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10. Schedule of meetings held by the Board of Trustees
The Board of Trustees met 4 times during the year (2018: 5 times). The following schedule sets out the
meetings held by the Board of Trustees during the year:
Meeting Date

Place of Meeting

Quorum

27 March 2019

Johannesburg

Yes

4 July 2019

Johannesburg

Yes

18 September 2019

Johannesburg

Yes

5 December 2019

Johannesburg

Yes

The vacancy created by the passing of Mr H G Gastrow (a member elected Trustee) on 2 November 2019
was only filled on 19 March 2020. All the decisions taken at the December 2019 meeting were ratified at a
meeting held on 25 March 2020.
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
for the year ended 31 December 2019
The Board of Trustees (the Board) has pleasure in submitting its 131st (one hundred and thirty first) annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
1.

DESCRIPTION OF THE MEDICAL SCHEME
1.1

Terms of registration
The De Beers Benefit Society (the Society), the oldest medical scheme in South Africa, is a selfadministrated not-for-profit restricted medical scheme registered in terms of the Medical Schemes Act of
South Africa (the Act), as amended, under registration number 1068.
The Society was established on 14 February 1889 and its purpose is to grant assistance to members
employed by De Beers Group Services Proprietary Limited (the Employer) and Associated Employers
(participating employers) and continuation members, as defined in the Rules of the Society (the Rules),
in defraying expenditure incurred by them and their dependants in connection with relevant healthcare
services as provided for and in accordance with the Rules.
In 2019 the Society provided benefits to an average of 9 491 (2018: 9 977) beneficiaries located primarily
in the Northern Cape (27%), Western Cape (23%), Gauteng (16%) and Limpopo (18%). The remaining
beneficiaries are spread across the remainder of South Africa and abroad (16%).

1.2

Benefit options
The Society has a single benefit option, which has a traditional benefit structure with defined benefits,
annual limits and no personal medical savings account.

1.3

Risk transfer and other arrangements
1.3.1 Emergency medical transport and evacuation services
The Society maintains a fixed-fee capitation agreement with ER24 providing for emergency
medical transport and evacuation services.
The Society paid a premium of R2 963 837 (2018: R3 056 745) for the year.
The total cost for emergency medical transport and evacuation services in terms of this agreement
amounted to R2 763 432 (2018: R2 841 214) for the year. Had this agreement not been in place,
the total cost for emergency medical transport and evacuation services, based on the ER24 private
client rates, would have been R3 592 460 (2018: R3 375 941).
1.3.2 Employer grant
The employer grant relates to a subsidy which is payable by De Beers Consolidated Mines
(DBCM) in terms of an agreement reached with DBCM following the termination of the membership
of the Finsch Mine and Kimberley Mines employees and the retention of the continuation members
associated with these mines, in consequence of the sale of the mines in September 2011 and
January 2016 respectively. In terms of the agreement DBCM agreed to subsidise any resultant
annual cross-subsidy deficit that may arise to offset any associated negative impact on the Society.
The subsidy is calculated annually by the Actuary in terms of an agreed methodology. The total
subsidy payable by DBCM for the year in terms of this agreement amounted to R22 087 000 (2018:
R18 255 000).

2.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS
2.1 Financial results for the year
Relevant healthcare expenditure expressed as a percentage of contributions for the year decreased to
109.4% (2018: 112.7%) and the Society reflected a total comprehensive income for the year of
R21 047 139 (2018: Total comprehensive loss of R18 877 596) after incorporating investment income.
The return on investments for the year was 9.3% (2018: 4.0%).
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2.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS (continued)
2.2 Membership
The Society has experienced a further decrease in membership during the year under review because of
the on-going organisational restructuring within the De Beers Group of Companies.
The Society had 4 898 (2018: 5 048) principal members as at 31 December 2019 with a monthly average
of 4 962 (2018: 5 133) for the year. The dependant ratio as at 31 December 2019 was 1 : 0.91 (2018:
1 : 0.93).
Since the membership of the Society is directly affected by any corporate activity within the De Beers
Group of Companies, the Board continues to monitor any announcements made and interacts with the
participating employers to evaluate the potential impact on the Society’s membership should this arise.
2.3 Members’ funds and solvency ratio
The Society’s members’ funds have increased to R557 734 420 (2018: R536 687 281) and its solvency
ratio to 162.4% (2018: 144.4%) as at 31 December 2019.
The Board is cognisant of the fact that the Society’s solvency ratio is substantially higher than the
minimum of 25% required by the Act. It is also in excess of the Society’s estimated risk-based capital
requirement, as determined by the Actuary based on the Society’s specific risk profile.
The Board believes that this level of reserves is prudent in the current regulatory framework and in a
rapidly evolving South African healthcare environment. It also assists the Society to remain sustainable
as a self-administered restricted scheme.
This is even more relevant given the on-going corporate activity within the De Beers Group of Companies
and the increasing average age of beneficiaries of 49.2 (2018: 48.2) years and the pensioner ratio of
32.0% (2018: 29.8%), which are significantly higher than the industry average of 32.8 (2018: 33.2) years
and 9.0% (2018: 8.4%) respectively.
2.4 Relevant healthcare expenditure
Of the total net claims incurred in 2019, hospitals comprised 40% (2018: 40%), specialists 28% (2018:
27%), medicines 16% (2018: 17%), general practitioners 4% (2018: 4%), dentists and dental specialists
3% (2018: 3%) and other benefit types 9% (2018: 9%).
2.5 Sustainability
The sustainability of the Society is carefully monitored and managed by the Board on an on-going basis.
During the year under review the Board continued to subject the Society’s results to regular actuarial
modelling and measuring hospital and other healthcare service providers’ efficiency levels and
performance, aimed at monitoring and taking steps to inter alia counter the membership demographic
changes, as well as claiming trends which may impact on the Society’s competitiveness and sustainability.
The following is also reviewed on an on-going basis in consultation with the Actuary:
the Society’s operating model;
potential future scenarios;
opportunities to address the challenges facing the Society and its longer-term sustainability;
the compatibility and cost effectiveness of the Society’s contributions and benefits in relation to the
medical scheme industry;
the Society’s reserve management strategy; and
the impact of changes in the current regulatory framework.
Any developments in this regard will be communicated to members when appropriate. Benefits provided
by the Society, contribution levels and administration costs all remain competitive, and are in some cases
better than the industry average. Based on the current circumstances of the Society, the Board remains
of the opinion that the Society offers value for money to its members and continues to remain sustainable
as a self-administered restricted scheme.
6

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
3.

INVESTMENT STRATEGY
3.1

Introduction
The Board as the governing body of the Society is ultimately responsible for the formulation and
implementation of the investment strategy of the Society and is assisted in this regard by the Investment
Board Committee, the appointed Investment Advisors and the Actuary.
The Board recognises that it has a statutory and fiduciary duty to invest the Society’s assets on behalf
of all its members in a responsible and prudent manner. Setting the investment strategy involves
considering the risks and rewards of various asset classes and investment opportunities, as well as the
constraints imposed on the Board. These constraints include, but are not limited to:
the Society’s relevant healthcare expenditure risk profile and associated liabilities;
the term and level of uncertainty associated with the liabilities;
the funding of the liabilities;
the level of reserves and capital adequacy;
on-going liquidity requirements; and
statutory and regulatory requirements.

3.2

Governance principles
The investment strategy takes into consideration the requirements and constraints imposed by the Act,
the Rules, the provisions and limitations of Regulation 30 of the Act and those agreed by the Board.
The investment strategy is documented in the Society’s Investment Policy Statement and aims to
improve and facilitate the management of investments, achieve appropriate transparency, facilitate
effective communication and promote the consistency of and accountability for the investment decisions
made.

3.3

Objectives
The overall objective of the Society is to provide members with competitive medical benefits in exchange
for regular monthly contributions. The Board has decided to adopt an investment strategy that will enable
the Society to meet the following investment objectives, namely to:
achieve targeted net real returns in excess of 3% per annum over a rolling 36-month period,
because the liabilities are linked to medical inflation; and
preserve to the extent possible the capital reserves that are held in respect of the statutory minimum
accumulated funds to be maintained and to finance the contributions shortfall (negative gross
healthcare results) and non-healthcare expenditure to be funded from investment and other
income.
In pursuit of the above investment objectives, cognisance is taken of the conditions of Explanatory Note
2 of Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act and the need for investments to be liquid in order to enable
the payment of relevant healthcare and non-healthcare expenditure as they arise.

3.4

Investment philosophy
The Board accepts and acknowledges the inherent relationship between investment risks and rewards
and the resulting conflict between the investment objectives of seeking to maximise returns while
minimising the risk taken.
The Board has adopted a short to medium-term investment strategy to assist in maintaining the financial
stability and viability of the Society. This takes account of the level of uncertainty regarding the Society’s
liabilities given the membership demographics and associated risk profile, as well as the environment
in which the Society operates.
The Board, on recommendation of the Investment Board Committee, considered the risk and return
characteristics of the various asset classes and the advantages and disadvantages of holding assets in
the name of the Society (segregated portfolios) as opposed to investing in pooled investments through
which the Society’s interests are represented by the value of an investment in an insurance policy or a
collective investment scheme.
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3. INVESTMENT STRATEGY (continued)
3.4

Investment philosophy (continued)
The Board has decided that the risk and return objectives of a combination of balanced, enhanced
income, bond and money market investment portfolios closely match those of the Society. The
management of the assets is currently allocated to two complementary investment managers.
Each investment manager has discretion as to the composition of the investment portfolio managed on
behalf of the Society within the parameters of a mandate provided by the Board and the provisions of
the Act. Strategic asset allocations are set per mandate and investment manager based on the results
of the Society’s investment strategy review undertaken annually. To take advantage of short-term
opportunities that may arise in the investment market and maximise the possibility of achieving the
Society’s investment objectives, deviations from the strategic asset allocations are considered by the
Investment Board Committee in order to implement temporary tactical changes to the strategic asset
allocations.

3.5

Management of investments
The Investment Board Committee monitors the performance of the investment managers quarterly and
comprehensive feedback is provided to the Board on a quarterly basis. The Board recognises that
overall accountability for investments and performance resides with it.
Each investment portfolio is evaluated in relation to the objectives set. The investment managers are
also evaluated against benchmarks at both manager and portfolio level. The investment strategy and
the investment managers’ mandates are reviewed annually, taking into consideration compliance with
the Act and the risks associated with the returns produced by the various asset classes and investment
managers.
Notwithstanding the above, the Society will continue to invest mainly in linked insurance policies, fixed
interest instruments and money market instruments held in the Society’s segregated portfolio. Refer to
notes 4, 6 and 19 (pages 44, 46 and 60) to the annual financial statements for more detail in this regard.

4. MANAGEMENT OF MEDICAL INSURANCE RISK
The primary business objective of the Society is to accept medical liability in respect of its members and their
dependants by providing benefits for relevant healthcare services obtained in accordance with the Rules, in
return for contributions. This objective takes account of the specific inherent risks associated with the
demographics of the Society’s membership, high pensioner ratio, chronic disease prevalence amongst
beneficiaries and the medical insurance risk.
The medical insurance risk refers to the unpredictability of diseases, nature of and advancements related to
treatments purchased and the cost of related services, as well as the uncertainty surrounding the timing and
severity of claims. The Society manages and mitigates its medical insurance risk by:
keeping abreast of and implementing appropriate industry best practices;
having a well-defined benefit structure;
adjusting or implementing new benefit limits, sub-limits, co-payments, penalties, waiting periods and
exclusions;
pre-authorising hospital admission requests, case managing selected cases and performing clinical
audits;
making use of industry pricing guidelines, including but not limited to generic reference pricing models
such as the Mediscor Reference Price (MRP) model, medicine formularies and therapeutic reference
pricing models such as the Mediscor Formulary Reference Price Plus (FRP Plus) model for the treatment
of chronic disease conditions;
contracting with managed care organisations to utilise their clinical guidelines, treatment protocols and
medical advisory services;
implementing risk transfer arrangements;
implementing chronic medication and disease management programmes;
having preferred provider networks and Designated Service Provider (DSP) arrangements in place;
tracking and analysing claiming patterns to detect and manage emerging trends in order to develop and
implement strategies to deal with these changes;
8

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
4. MANAGEMENT OF MEDICAL INSURANCE RISK (continued)
making use of healthcare system measurement tools to measure the performance and efficiency levels
of hospitals, service providers and other managed care interventions;
agreeing with the Employer or Associated Employers to compensate or subsidise the Society for the
financial impact of corporate activity giving rise to cross-subsidy deficits, as a result of the termination of
membership of employees and the retention of the continuation members associated with the operation
in question;
recovering relevant healthcare expenditure incurred by members or their dependants from third party
insurers such as the Road Accident Fund (RAF), where a third-party liability exists;
monitoring industry trends and emerging healthcare issues and taking pre-emptive or corrective action as
required; and
increasing contribution levels taking cognisance of estimated claims, industry developments and market
trends, as well as the Society’s reserve management strategy, investment returns earned and other
sources of income.
In addition, administrative risk management measures are employed to ensure appropriate access to benefits.
These include, but are not limited to benefit pre-authorisation, billing audits and interventions aimed at
combating fraud in general.
The Society, with the assistance of the Actuary, assesses and monitors its medical insurance risk exposure
both for individual types of risks and overall risks on an on-going basis. This assessment includes internal risk
measurement models, stress testing and sensitivity and scenario analyses. The principal risks are that the
actual changes in membership demographics and the frequency and severity of claims ultimately exceed the
projections made at the time of compiling the annual budget. Refer to note 20 (page 68) to the annual financial
statements for more detail.
The structure and extent of benefits provided, and the associated rules, are the ultimate responsibility of the
Board. The responsibility for the annual review of the benefit structure and the development of proposals in
this regard for consideration by the Board is delegated to the Benefits Review Board Committee. The Benefits
Review Board Committee reviews the benefit structure taking cognisance of the requirements of the Act,
legislative changes, industry developments, member feedback and the Society’s current funding level, reserve
management strategy, ability to accept insurance risk and insurance risk exposure.
Insurance events are, by their nature, random and the actual number and size of events during any one year
may vary from those that were estimated with established statistical techniques based on membership
demographics and historical claiming patterns. The Board is satisfied that there are:
no changes to the assumptions used to measure insurance assets and liabilities; and
no terms and conditions of insurance contracts;
that could have a material effect on the annual financial statements or the timing and uncertainty of the
Society’s cash flows.
Furthermore, medical schemes are required to fund prescribed minimum benefits (PMBs) in full in terms of
the interpretation of Regulation 8 of the Act by the Council for Medical Schemes (the Council). This poses an
additional financial risk to the Society since there are no regulated tariffs for healthcare service providers. The
Society, where appropriate and permissible, makes use of DSP arrangements, treatment protocols and
formularies for specific conditions to manage this risk.
5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
5.1

Introduction
The Board and Society management maintain a firm focus on upholding the highest standards of
corporate governance and proactively monitor and manage risks in terms of a formal risk management
policy and process.
Good corporate governance requires continuous review of processes, systems and documents for
relevance, effectiveness and compliance. To this end the Society maintains its focus on continuous
business improvement and optimising the assurance obtained from internal and external assurance
providers.
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5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
5.1

Introduction (continued)
This assurance is provided in accordance with an appropriately combined assurance model providing
for the review of the Society’s system of internal control and risk management, including the design,
implementation and effectiveness of internal financial controls.

5.2

Board of Trustees and Board Committees
The Board is constituted in terms of the Rules and comprises four employer appointed Trustees and
four member elected Trustees. The vacancy created by the passing of Mr H G Gastrow (a member
elected Trustee) on 2 November 2019 was only filled on 19 March 2020. The term of office of a Trustee
is five years. Even though the Board’s ability to influence its composition is limited, the Rules allow the
Board to obtain expert advice on any Society matter it may lack sufficient expertise on. The Board, when
necessary and where the Terms of References make provision for this, will appoint non-Trustee
members with the relevant skills, knowledge and experience to serve on certain Board Committees.
All new Trustees and Board Committee members undergo a formal induction process. On-going formal
training takes place and all Trustees and Board Committee members are encouraged to undertake
continuous development, training and education throughout their terms of office. Annual Board and
Board Committee self-assessment performance evaluations are performed in order to ascertain what,
if any, training needs are required and to help improve individual performance and competence.
The Board and Board Committees receive timely, accurate and relevant reporting and other information
and have access to all information held by the Society that is required to enable them to fulfil their duties.
To ensure the efficient flow of information, comprehensive agenda packs are provided to the Trustees
and Board Committee members in advance of each meeting. Minutes of all Board and Board Committee
meetings, other Society governance related documentation and background information are prepared
and maintained in the Society’s records and are accessible to Trustees and Board Committee members
on a secure web-site.
The current Trustees and non-Trustee Board Committee members collectively have sufficient
experience and understanding of the fields of administration, investment, actuarial, accounting, legal,
project management, human resources and social matters to enable them to perform their duties
objectively and effectively. As mentioned above, the Board makes use of external expertise on specific
matters outside the collective knowledge, skills and experience of the Board when required. The Board
is satisfied that the current composition of the Board and the various Board Committees reflects the
appropriate mix of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and independence to enable the Board to
discharge its governance role and responsibilities objectively and effectively.
The Chairperson is responsible for providing leadership to the Board, for ensuring its effectiveness and
for promoting effective communication amongst Trustees. The Principal Officer is responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Society in line with policies and strategic objectives set and agreed by
the Board. The Principal Officer reports to the Board on the performance of the Society and on all
material matters at regularly scheduled Board meetings and between Board meetings as and when
required.
Aligned to the principles of sound corporate governance, the Rules, Board Charter, Trustee Code of
Conduct and Ethics, Conflict of Interest Policy, Statement of Corporate Governance, Society’s policy
documents and the Terms of Reference of the Board Committees provide a clear and concise overview
of the responsibility and accountability of the Trustees and Board Committees, collectively and
individually. The Trustees and Board Committee members are required to avoid conflicts of interest,
where possible, and to inform the Board timeously of conflicts or potential conflicts of interest. The
Trustees and Board Committee members are required to complete declaration of interest forms annually
or when new areas of conflict of interest have arisen since the last declaration. In the opinion of the
Board adequate fidelity and professional indemnity insurance, which includes cover for Board
Committee members and for staff, was arranged by the Society for the year under review.

5.3 Election of member elected Trustees
The member elected Trustees’ terms of office expire at the 131st Annual General Meeting. The process
to elect new Trustees commenced in September 2019. The Society received five (5) valid nominations
and voting will take place until 30 April 2020.
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5.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
5.3 Election of member elected Trustees (continued)
The election results will be announced at the 131st Annual General Meeting of members and the newly
member elected Trustees will take office on the following day.
5.4 King IV application review
The Board is fully committed to the application of those practices, philosophies and governance
outcomes contained in the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV) that
are applicable to the Society.
As previously reported, with the announcement of the implementation of King IV and aligned to the
Society’s commitment to good corporate governance, the Society has subscribed to the Governance
and Compliance Instrument launched by the Global Platform for Intellectual Property in collaboration
with the Council to assess its application of the principles of King IV insofar as they are applicable to
medical schemes.
Following a comprehensive review and analysis of each King IV principle and its associated practices
against the Society’s current governance practices, a list of recommended actions has been compiled.
Overall, the review did not indicate any significant shortcomings and following implementation of the
agreed actions it is expected that the Society’s governance practices will be aligned to the King IV
principles and associated practices, where relevant.
The Society’s King IV Application Report that explains:
how the Society has applied or not applied the principles set out in King IV;
what actions are still required in terms of applying a specific principle; and
where it is impossible to implement a practice or where such implementation is inappropriate;
has been published on the Society’s website (www.dbbs.co.za/library/governance-2/).
5.5 Certificate of compliance with administration standards
As previously reported, the Council issued a certificate of compliance with administration standards
applicable to self-administered schemes subject to certain conditions on 1 November 2018 (date of
accreditation), which have subsequently been met. The certificate covered the period ending
9 December 2019.
The Society’s certificate was unconditionally renewed by the Council on 10 December 2019 and expires
on 9 December 2022.
5.6 Risk management and internal controls
The Board regards risk management as being of extreme importance and the Society continuously
encourages its employees to be mindful of the need to manage risks and to report any instances of
suspected fraud.
The Board has overall responsibility for the Society’s system of internal control. The Board is extremely
conscious of the importance of this system and recognises the importance of monitoring the
effectiveness and development of associated systems in line with best practice.
The Board is ultimately responsible for the management of risks. The Society has adopted appropriate
aspects of the De Beers Group of Companies’ risk management policy and related procedures which
set out the process for capturing and managing all relevant risks through five key stages: identification,
assessment, monitoring, mitigation and reporting.
Society management is responsible for the collation of this information and reporting to the Audit and
Risk Board Committee and the Board. Society management is also entrusted with the responsibility of
ensuring that the risk management framework is embedded at all levels and overseen, independently
and objectively, at an appropriate level.
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5.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
5.6 Risk management and internal controls (continued)
The Audit and Risk Board Committee, assisted by the internal auditors, continuously reviews the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Society’s risk management framework and system of internal control
and reports regularly to the Board on the status of risk management and internal controls.

6.

ACTUARIAL SERVICES
The Actuary assists the Society in identifying and assessing risks and establishing claiming patterns by
conducting regular actuarial modelling.
The Actuary calculated the outstanding claims provision, the Society’s post-employment healthcare benefits
obligation and the employer grant. Refer to notes 7, 9 and 15 (pages 47, 51 and 55) to the annual financial
statements for more detail in this regard. In addition, the Actuary was consulted to determine and model the
benefits and contribution levels for the 2020 benefit year.

7.

AUDITORS
In terms of Rule 25.1, the members appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated as the Society’s
auditors for 2019. PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated has been the auditors of the Society for the past
16 years and the engagement partner, Johannes Grové, has been responsible for the audit for the past 8
years. On the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Board Committee, the members will be requested to
approve the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated as the Society’s auditors for 2020 at
the 131st Annual General Meeting.

8.

REVIEW OF KEY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
8.1 Operational statistics
2019
Membership

Members

2018

Beneficiaries

Members

Beneficiaries

Membership as at 1 January

5 048

9 737

5 206

10 236

New members / beneficiaries

76

260

130

312

(226)

(665)

(288)

(811)

Members / beneficiaries exited
Membership as at 31 December

4 898

9 332

5 048

9 737

Average number of members / beneficiaries

4 962

9 491

5 133

9 977

Average age of members / beneficiaries

61.7

49.2

60.9

48.2

Dependant ratio as at 31 December

0.91

Pensioner ratio as at 31 December

0.93
32.0%

(65 years and older)

29.8%

Ratios per average member /
beneficiary per month
Contribution income

5 335

2 789

4 989

2 567

Relevant healthcare expenditure

5 837

3 052

5 624

2 894

364

190

351

180

Non-healthcare expenditure

2019

2018

109.4%

112.7%

Non-healthcare expenditure as % of contributions

6.8%

7.0%

Return on investments

9.3%

4.0%

Relevant healthcare expenditure as % of contributions
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8.

REVIEW OF KEY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (continued)
8.2 Results of operations
The results of the Society’s operations are set out in the annual financial statements and the Board
believes that no further clarification is required.
8.3 Claims and contributions
The Board remains confident that the Society offers good value for money considering the benefits
provided, contribution levels and administration costs.
8.4 Member funds
Movements in member funds are set out in the Statement of Changes in Members’ Funds.
There have been no unusual movements in this regard that the Board believes should be brought to the
attention of the members of the Society.
8.5 Solvency ratio
2019

2018

R

R

Members’ funds per Statement of Financial Position

557 734 420

536 687 281

Less: Unrealised gains

(41 758 321)

(92 942 013)

Accumulated funds per Regulation 29 of the Act

515 976 099

443 745 268

Contribution income

317 659 276

307 317 418

Solvency ratio

162.4%

144.4%

Accumulated funds per member as at 31 December

113 870

106 317

8.6 Outstanding claims
Movement in the outstanding claims provision is set out in note 9 (page 51) to the annual financial
statements. The outstanding claims provision is the amount of the estimated claims incurred for relevant
healthcare services obtained by beneficiaries but not yet reported (IBNR) to the Society as at
31 December 2019.
There have been no unusual movements in this regard that the Board believes should be brought to the
attention of the members of the Society.
9.

PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS
The Board continues to monitor announcements relating to corporate activity within the De Beers Group of
Companies and interacts with the participating employers to evaluate any potential impact on the Society.

10. INVESTMENTS IN AND LOANS TO PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS OF MEMBERS AND OTHER
RELATED PARTIES
The Society through its holdings in the Allan Gray Life Domestic Balanced Portfolio (linked insurance policy)
indirectly held investments in Anglo American plc, the ultimate holding company of some of the participating
employers as at 31 December 2019.
The Society has not granted any loans to participating employers or other related parties, other than those
disclosed in note 18 (page 56) to the annual financial statements.
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11. RELATED PARTIES
Related party transactions are disclosed in note 18 (page 56) to the annual financial statements. Trustee
remuneration and other considerations are also disclosed in the same note.
12. BOARD COMMITTEES
A number of Board Committees, which assist the Board in carrying out its duties, remained in place during
the year under review. These committees are formally mandated by the Board by means of written terms of
reference as to their membership, authority and duties. The Chairperson of each Board Committee reports,
where appropriate, to the Board at its scheduled meetings. The following Board Committees were in place
during the year under review:
12.1 Audit and Risk Board Committee
The committee consists of five members appointed from amongst the members of the Board or other
persons. The committee is independent and a majority of the members, including the Chairperson of
the committee, are not officers of the Society.
The Board is satisfied that the committee has been established in accordance with the provisions of
the Act and that its members collectively have sufficient and relevant financial and medical scheme
industry understanding and experience to enable them to carry out their duties and responsibilities.
The committee met on three occasions during the year. The Principal Officer, Society Manager, Chief
Operating Officer, external auditors and internal auditors attended all committee meetings and have
unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the committee.
In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the primary objective of the committee is to provide
assurance that good corporate governance practices are implemented and maintained, that the
inherent risks associated with the Society are adequately identified and addressed, and that the
Society’s accounting policies, system of internal control and financial reporting practices are sound.
Whilst the Board’s responsibility for the Society’s annual financial reporting and risk management is
not abrogated in favour of the members of the committee, the committee provides assurance to the
Board and assists the Board to comply with its responsibilities.
The committee has an oversight responsibility for the following:
the financial reporting process;
the system of internal control over financial systems and reporting;
the internal and external audit processes; and
the process of identifying, monitoring, recording and managing risk, compliance with laws and
regulations, as well as the Society’s Code of Conduct.
The external and internal auditors formally report to the committee on critical findings arising from audit
activities. The external and internal auditors meet separately with the Committee at least once a year
without management being present.
Committee members for the year under review comprised:
C J Van Zyl (Chairperson)
Z Astrie (Trustee - Appointed 18 September 2019)
E I Blignaut
W Endersby (Trustee)
D D Meyer
D C Kerspuy (Trustee - Resigned 9 July 2019)
The committee has confirmed that it met its mandate, carried out its duties in terms of the Act and
satisfied itself during the year under review:
as to the effectiveness of the Society’s corporate governance practices, risk management system,
system of internal control, accounting policies and financial reporting practices, based on the
combined assurances received;
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12. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
12.1 Audit and Risk Board Committee (continued)
that the annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as defined by IAS 1 and the interpretations issued by the
IFRS Interpretations Committee, with guidance from the Medical Schemes Accounting Guide
issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) and in the manner
required by the Act;
as to the appropriateness of the expertise, adequacy of resources and experience of the Society’s
finance function; and
that the internal and external auditors are independent of the Society.
12.2 Benefits Review Board Committee
The committee consists of four members appointed from among the members of the Board. The
committee met on three occasions during the year. The Actuary, Principal Officer, Society Manager
and Chief Operating Officer also attended the meetings.
The primary objective of the committee is to review and recommend to the Board the benefits to be
provided to beneficiaries and the contributions payable. The process followed to arrive at
recommendations in this regard includes a review of:
the trends in the costs of benefits paid for the current and previous years against contributions
received;
the Society’s funding level, reserve management strategy and operating costs; and
related industry developments.
Committee members for the year under review comprised:
C J Blanckenberg (Chairperson and Trustee)
Z Astrie (Trustee - Appointed 18 September 2019)
H G Gastrow (Trustee - Resigned from the committee on 12 August 2019)
R W Ketley (Trustee)
W J B Smerdon (Trustee)
The committee has confirmed that it met its mandate and satisfied itself as to the appropriateness of
the benefits provided to beneficiaries and the contributions paid during the year under review.
12.3 Communication and Education Board Committee
The committee consists of four members appointed from amongst the members of the Board. The
committee was not required to meet formally during the year but did provide input into the Society’s
communication policy and strategy and regularly reviewed communication related material on a round
robin basis.
The primary objective of the committee is to oversee effective member communication that complies
with the regulations and guidelines of the Act and to provide Trustees with appropriate education to
assist them in performing their duties.
Committee members for the year under review comprised:
W J B Smerdon (Chairperson and Trustee)
C J Blanckenberg (Trustee)
A P Erasmus (Trustee)
R W Ketley (Trustee)
The committee has confirmed that it met its mandate and satisfied itself as to the effectiveness of
member communication and the appropriateness of Trustee education during the year under review.
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12. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
12.4 Investment Board Committee
The committee consists of four members appointed from amongst the members of the Board. The
committee met on four occasions during the year. This included the Society’s annual investment
strategy review meeting. The Principal Officer, Society Manager, Chief Operating Officer and
Investment Advisors, albeit not members of the Committee, attended all committee meetings.
The primary objective of the committee is to oversee the investment of the Society’s assets in terms
of the Act, the Rules and the investment strategy approved by the Board in consultation with the
Society’s appointed Investment Advisors and the Actuary.
The committee conducted due diligence visits to the appointed investment managers during the year.
An annual investment day was also held where the investment managers had the opportunity to
interact with and present to the Board on the Society’s investment performance and other related
matters.
Committee members for the year under review comprised:
C J Blanckenberg (Chairperson and Trustee)
W Endersby (Trustee)
H G Gastrow (Trustee - Resigned from the committee on 12 August 2019)
R W Ketley (Trustee)
C Coltman (Trustee - Appointed 18 September 2019)
The committee has confirmed that it met its mandate and satisfied itself that the Society’s assets have
been invested in terms of the Act, the Rules and the Society’s approved investment strategy during
the year under review.
12.5 Remuneration Board Committee
The committee consists of four members appointed from amongst the members of the Board. The
committee met once during the year. The Principal Officer, Society Manager and Chief Operating
Officer also attended the meeting.
The primary objective of the committee is to determine the conditions of employment and remuneration
for all employees of the Society, as well as the remuneration of Trustees and Board Committee
members who are not employees of the participating employers, where applicable. The committee is
also tasked to identify and evaluate the risks associated with the remuneration of and conditions of
employment applicable to employees of the Society.
Committee members for the year under review comprised:
W J B Smerdon (Trustee - Appointed as Chairperson 18 September 2019)
Z Astrie (Trustee)
C J Blanckenberg (Trustee - Stepped down as committee Chairperson on 18 September 2019)
R Ketley (Trustee - Appointed 18 September 2019)
D C Kerspuy (Trustee - Resigned 9 July 2019)
The committee has confirmed that it met its mandate and satisfied itself as to the fairness of the
Society’s conditions of employment and remuneration, in the context of the Society’s overall strategy,
during the year under review.
13. NON-COMPLIANCE
The following instances of non-compliance with the Act were identified during the year:
13.1 Financial soundness of benefit option
In terms of Section 33(2) of the Act, each benefit option shall be self-supporting in terms of membership
and financial performance.
16

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
13. NON-COMPLIANCE (continued)
13.1 Financial soundness of benefit option (continued)
Cause
During the year the Society incurred a net healthcare deficit of R51 594 050 (2018: R60 707 584).
This result is expected and is aligned with the Society’s reserve management strategy of ensuring the
financial stability and viability of the Society over the foreseeable future. The strategy also takes
account of the need for the Society to remain competitive in relation to benefits provided, contribution
levels and administration costs.
Corrective action
The Society is financially sound in terms of Section 35, as confirmed by the current level of
accumulated funds and the Society’s solvency ratio of 162.4% (2018: 144.4%). The financial
soundness and sustainability of the Society is carefully considered and managed by the Board on an
on-going basis, in consultation with the Actuary. It is not the strategy of the Society to make a profit
and its net investment income and the employer grant enables it to target a break-even position and
to ameliorate any net healthcare deficit.
The Board monitors the financial results to ensure that the net healthcare deficit is in line with the
budget and any material variances are analysed and corrective action taken, where necessary.
13.2 Payment of claims within 30 days
In terms of Section 59(2) of the Act, a medical scheme is required to pay a valid claim submitted to the
scheme within 30 days after the day on which the claim was received.
Cause
The Society endeavours to pay all claims within 30 days of receipt, but the processing of some claims
is occasionally delayed due to unforeseen circumstances. Delays can, for example, occur when
providers fail to supply the Society with their banking details or when claims are referred for clinical
auditing or other investigations.
Corrective action
Claims that are not paid within 30 days are actively monitored to ensure effective on-going
management of this issue.
13.3 Contribution income not received within three days of becoming due
In terms of Section 26(7) of the Act, contribution income must be received within three days of
becoming due in terms of the Rules.
Cause
There were an insignificant number of instances where the Society did not receive contributions from
members within three days of these becoming due. This was mainly because of members having
insufficient funds in their bank accounts at the time of collection, members exiting without informing
the Society and reconciling discrepancies between participating employers and the Society. The risk
of default is however small because of the restricted nature of the Society and participating employer
base.
Corrective action
Contributions not received within three days are actively pursued and the suspension policies are
rigorously applied.
13.4 Limitation on assets
In terms of Category 7 of Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act the Society is only allowed to hold a
maximum of 2.5% of its assets in “other assets” inside the Republic of South Africa. No other assets
in territories outside the Republic may be held.
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13. NON-COMPLIANCE (continued)
13.4 Limitation on assets (continued)
Cause
In terms of Circular 15 of 2020: Categorisation of assets in terms of Annexure B to the Regulations,
issued by the Council on 28 February 2020, all credit linked notes listed on the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange’s (JSE) debt market as at 31 December 2019 are classified as Category 7(a): Other assets
- Inside the Republic or Category 7(b): Other assets – Territories outside the Republic, based on the
JSE’s classification of these credit linked notes which implies that these instruments have exposure to
embedded derivatives. These credit linked notes were classified either as Category 2(a): Bonds –
Inside the Republic or Category 2(b): Bonds – Territories outside the Republic in prior years.
The Society through its holdings in the Nedgroup Structured Life Taquanta Enhanced Income Fund
(linked insurance policy) holds indirect investments in these credit linked notes. The investment
managers have full discretion over the investment decisions relating to these pooled investments.
Should these credit linked notes be classified in accordance with Circular 15 of 2020 the Society would
exceed the Category 7(a) and 7(b) limits of Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act as at
31 December 2019.
Corrective action
The Society has provided the Council with confirmation by the investment manager that these
instruments do not have exposure to embedded derivatives. These instruments will therefore be
classified either as Category 2(a): Bonds – Inside the Republic or Category 2(b): Bonds – Territories
outside the Republic for Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act purposes, as per past practice.
13.5 Investments in participating employers, other medical schemes, administrators or associated
companies
Section 35(8) of the Act states that a medical scheme shall not invest any of its assets in other medical
schemes, any administrator, any participating employer or any companies associated with the aforementioned.
Cause
The Society through its holdings in the Allan Gray Life Domestic Balanced Portfolio (linked insurance
policy) holds indirect investments in companies associated with other medical schemes, administrators
and participating employers. The investment managers have full discretion over the investment
decisions relating to these pooled investments.
Corrective action
The Society applied for an exemption from this section of the Act on 3 April 2019. Exemption was
granted until 30 November 2022 by the Council, subject to certain conditions.
13.6 Board composition
Section 57(2) of the Act states that at least 50% of the members of the Board of Trustees shall be
elected from amongst members. As at 31 December 2019, the Board of Trustees was made up of
three member elected Trustees and four employer appointed Trustees.
Cause
This was as a result of the passing of Mr H G Gastrow, a member elected Trustee, on
2 November 2019.
Corrective action
The remaining member elected Trustees have subsequently resolved to fill the vacancy with an eligible
member in terms of Rule 18.7, since there were no eligible candidates available from the last general
election to fill the vacancy. Mr J Soyizwaphi was appointed as a member elected Trustee effective
19 March 2020 and will serve the remainder of the current five year term of office that will end at the
131st Annual General Meeting.
18

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
13. NON-COMPLIANCE (continued)
13.6 Board composition (continued)
In addition, all decisions made at the meeting held on 5 December 2019 were ratified at a meeting
held on 25 March 2020.
14. MEETING ATTENDANCE
The following schedule sets out the Board and Board Committee meeting attendance for the year:
Board
Meetings

Audit and
Risk

A

B

A

B

Z Astrie

4

4

1

1

C J Blanckenberg

3

C Coltman

Name

Investment

Benefits
Review

A

B

A

B

4

4

4

3

3

2

2

1

1

D C Kerspuy

2

2

W J B Smerdon

4

4

W Endersby

3

4

A P Erasmus

4

4

H G Gastrow

2

R W Ketley

4

Remuneration

A

B

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Trustees - Employer appointed

2

2
3

3

Trustees - Member elected
3

3

3

4

3

2

3

1

3

4

4

4

3

3

Non-Trustees
E I Blignaut

2

3

D D Meyer

1

3

C J Van Zyl

3

3

A – Number of meetings attended

B – Total number of meetings that could have been attended

15. EVENTS AFTER STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
15.1 Member elected Trustees
Following the vacancy that was created by the passing of Mr H G Gastrow on 2 November 2019 Mr
J Soyizwaphi was appointed as a member elected Trustee effective 19 March 2020 and will serve the
remainder of the current five year term of office that will end at the 131st Annual General Meeting.
15.2 Covid-19 pandemic
Since 31 December 2019 the spread of Covid-19 and the measures taken to contain the spread of the
virus have severely impacted many businesses and economies around the world.
The following impacts on the Society have been considered:
15.2.1 Impact on fair value of investments and returns
Since 31 December 2019 investment markets around the world have experienced significant
volatility. As at 30 April 2020 the Society’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and other comprehensive income have only increased to R559 908 052 (31 December 2019:
R559 761 572), well below the 2020 financial year’s investment return assumption.
While governments have reacted with several interventions designed to stabilise economic
conditions, the future impact on investment markets can, however, not be reliably estimated.
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15. EVENTS AFTER STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
15.2.2 Impact on solvency ratio and claims
The sensitivity analysis of the Society’s solvency ratio, after allowing for the above impact on
investments and the estimated Covid-19 related claims, indicated that the solvency ratio could
decrease between 8.3% (low impact scenario) and 25.9% (high impact scenario).
However, at this stage the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Society cannot be reliably
estimated. Accordingly, the Society’s financial position and results for the year ended
31 December 2019 have not been adjusted to reflect the potential impact, as this is a nonadjusting event after statement of financial position date. Given the Society’s level of reserves
and its solvency ratio of 162.4% as at 31 December 2019, it is anticipated that the Society will
be able to continue as a going concern.
15.3 Other events
No other material events affecting the annual financial statements have occurred after the end of the
accounting period which in the opinion of the Board should be brought to the members’ attention.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The Board of Trustees and the Principal Officer (the Board) are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair
presentation of the annual financial statements of the De Beers Benefit Society (the Society) and to ensure that
proper system of internal control is employed by or on behalf of the Society.
The annual financial statements presented on pages 27 to 77 have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as defined by IAS 1 and the interpretations issued by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee, with guidance from the Medical Schemes Accounting Guide issued by the South
African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) and in the manner required by the Act. The annual financial
statements include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management.
The Board considers that the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, have been used and that all the standards of IFRS that the
Board considered to be applicable have been followed in preparing the annual financial statements.
The Board is satisfied that the information contained in the annual financial statements fairly presents the affairs,
the results of operations, the cash flows for the year and the financial position of the Society as at
31 December 2019. The Board is responsible for both the accuracy and consistency of the information in the
annual report and the annual financial statements.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that accounting records are kept. The accounting records disclose with
reasonable accuracy the financial results and position of the Society which enables the Board to ensure that the
annual financial statements comply with the relevant legislation.
The Society operates in a well-established controlled administrative environment, which is documented and
regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk management and internal control procedures which are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance, that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business
are being managed.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the annual financial statements. The Board has no reason
to believe that the Society will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts provided by
the Actuary and available reserves. This view is endorsed by the Audit and Risk Board Committee, the Actuary
and the external auditors. These annual financial statements reflect the financial stability and viability of the
Society.
The Society has a board structure of four Trustees appointed by the Employer and four Trustees elected by the
members, as provided for in terms of the Rules. The current composition of the Board is featured on page 1.
The Society’s external auditors are responsible for auditing the annual financial statements in terms of
International Standards on Auditing and to report on the fair presentation of the annual financial statements. Their
report is presented on pages 23 to 26.
The annual financial statements were approved by the Board on 25 March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

_____________________
C J BLANCKENBERG
CHAIRPERSON

_____________________
Z ASTRIE
TRUSTEE

_____________________
S MATHONZI
PRINCIPAL OFFICER

25 March 2020

25 March 2020

25 March 2020
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
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Responsibilities
The De Beers Benefit Society (the Society) is committed to the principles and practice of competency,
responsibility, fairness, transparency, integrity and accountability in all dealings with its stakeholders. The Society
strives to achieve the highest levels of corporate governance, reassesses its corporate governance framework
and practices on an on-going basis and maintains a strong drive to identify and implement best practice.
Board of Trustees
The Board of Trustees (the Board) meets and monitors the performance of the Society regularly. The Board
addresses a range of key issues and ensures that the discussions on policy, strategy and performance take place
and are informed and constructive.
All Trustees have access to the advice and services of the Principal Officer and staff and, where appropriate, may
seek independent professional advice at the expense of the Society.
System of Internal Controls
The Society maintains internal controls and systems designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity
and reliability of the annual financial statements and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability
for its assets. Such controls are based on established policies and procedures and are implemented by trained
personnel with the appropriate segregation of duties.
No event or item has come to the attention of the Board that indicates any material breakdown in the functioning
of the key internal controls and systems during the year under review.
The Trustees and the Principal Officer, where relevant, hereby certify to the best of their knowledge and belief
that, during the year under review and in the execution of their duties, they:
complied with the Society’s governance framework and practices;
conducted the Society’s affairs according to ethical values as contained in the Board Charter and Code of
Conduct;
adopted risk assessment, evaluation and management processes;
regularly monitored the performance of service providers according to service level agreements;
evaluated their own performance as a Board and that of the Board Committees against agreed terms of
reference;
established an adequate and effective system of internal control and determined the adequacy and
effectiveness thereof through the appointment of internal and external auditors; and
obtained expert or professional advice on matters where they lacked sufficient expertise.

_____________________
C J BLANCKENBERG
CHAIRPERSON

_____________________
Z ASTRIE
TRUSTEE

_____________________
S MATHONZI
PRINCIPAL OFFICER

25 March 2020

25 March 2020

25 March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of the De Beers Benefit Society
Report on the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of De Beers Benefit Society (the Scheme), set out on pages 27 to
77, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 and the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in members’ funds the statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Scheme as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Medical Schemes
Act of South Africa.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Scheme in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January
2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for
Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with
other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent
with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) respectively.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Outstanding claims provision

We obtained an understanding from the Scheme’s
actuaries regarding the process to calculate the
outstanding claims provision. The actuarial model
applied by the Scheme is one that is generally

The outstanding claims provision of R20,374,053 at
year-end as described in Note 9 to the financial
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

statements, is a provision recognised for the
estimated cost of healthcare benefits that have been
incurred prior to year-end but that were only
reported to the Scheme after year-end.

applied within the medical scheme industry.

The outstanding claims provision is calculated by the
Scheme’s actuary which is reviewed by management
the Audit and Risk Board Committee and
recommended to the Board of Trustees for approval.
The Scheme’s actuary uses an actuarial model, based
on the Scheme’s actual claim development patterns
throughout the year, to project the year-end
provision. This model applies Basic Chain
Ladder (“BCL”) method. The claim service date,
processing date and amount are used to derive claim
development patterns. These historical patterns are
then used to estimate the outstanding claims
provision.
We identified this to be a matter of most significance
to the audit because of the uncertainty in the
projected claims pattern. A change in the projected
claims pattern can cause a material change to the
amount of the provision.

We obtained the actual claims data from the
member administration system covering the year
ended 31 December 2019.
For a sample of actual claims received by the
Scheme in the 31 December 2019 financial year, we
tested the accuracy of the service and process dates.
No material inconsistencies were noted.
We substantively tested a sample of claims against
the relevant Scheme rules and assessed
completeness of the claims data.
The claims data that was included in the Scheme’s
actuarial model was agreed to the above actual
claims data with no material inconsistencies noted.
To assess the reasonableness of the Scheme
actuary’s estimation process, we compared the
actual claim results in the current year to the prior
year provision. Based on our assessment, the
estimation process was considered reasonable.
We have evaluated management’s experts by
assessing their competence, capability, and
objectivity and noted no aspects requiring further
consideration. We also obtained the outstanding
claims provision report from the Scheme’s actuary
and assessed whether the inputs, assumptions,
methodology and findings per the report were
consistent with our testing above. Based on the
results of our assessment we accepted the inputs,
assumptions, methodology and findings as
reasonable.
We obtained the actual claims run-off report up to
31 March 2020 from the Scheme’s management.
For a sample of claims from the report, we tested
the occurrence and accuracy of the claims as well as
the accuracy of the related service dates and we
identified no material inconsistencies.
We enquired from the Scheme’s management
whether there were delays in processing claims at
year-end that could possibly impact the claims runoff pattern subsequent to year end. Management
confirmed that there were no such delays.
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Other Information
The Scheme’s trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the De Beers Benefit Society Annual Report 31 December 2019. The other
information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Scheme’s Trustees for the Financial Statements
The Scheme’s trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements,
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Medical
Schemes Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the Scheme’s trustees determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Scheme’s trustees are responsible for assessing the Scheme’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Scheme’s trustees either intend to liquidate the Scheme or
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Scheme’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Scheme’s trustees.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the Scheme’s trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Scheme’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
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report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Scheme to cease to continue as a going
concern.


Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation

We communicate with the Scheme’s trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
From the matters communicated with the Scheme’s trustees, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Non-compliance with the Medical Schemes Act of South Africa
As required by the Council for Medical Schemes, we report the following material instances of noncompliance with the requirements of the Medical Schemes Act of South Africa, as amended, that have come
to our attention during the course of our audit, as disclosed in note 23 of the financial statements:
1.
2.

Section 33(2)(b) of the Medical Schemes Act of South Africa: The Society’s benefit option was not
self-supporting in terms of financial performance; and
Section 57(2) of the Medical Schemes Act of South Africa: At year end, less than 50% of the
members of the board of trustees were elected from amongst members.

Audit Tenure
As required by the Council for Medical Schemes’ Circular 38 of 2018, Audit Tenure, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of the Society for 16 years.
The engagement partner, Johannes Grove, has been responsible for the De Beers Benefit Society audit for 8
years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: JJ Grové
Registered Auditor
Johannesburg
8 May 2020
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2019

Notes

2019

2018

R

R

ASSETS
Non-current assets

520 419 774

518 739 887

Property, plant and equipment

2

160 036

99 336

Intangible assets

3

75 945

1 447

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

4

432 663 548

414 552 235

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

4

87 520 245

104 086 869

91 066 387

72 404 823

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

4

39 577 779

27 080 759

Trade and other receivables

5

26 177 488

22 109 883

Cash and cash equivalents

6

25 311 120

23 214 181

611 486 161

591 144 710

Members’ funds

557 734 420

536 687 281

Accumulated funds

553 751 068

534 589 976

3 983 352

2 097 305

16 959 730

17 580 244

16 959 730

17 580 244

36 792 011

36 877 185

Total assets

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Other comprehensive income

Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefits obligations

7

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

8

16 417 958

15 088 889

Outstanding claims provision

9

20 374 053

21 788 296

611 486 161

591 144 710

Total funds and liabilities
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes

Contribution income
Relevant healthcare expenditure

2019

2018

R

R

317 659 276

307 317 418

(347 572 654)

(346 431 018)

Net claims incurred

10

(344 152 361)

(343 164 850)

Accredited managed healthcare services

10

(3 219 888)

(3 050 637)

Net expense on risk transfer arrangement

10

(200 405)

(215 531)

Risk transfer arrangement premiums paid

(2 963 837)

(3 056 745)

Recoveries from risk transfer arrangement

2 763 432

2 841 214

Gross healthcare results

(29 913 378)

(39 113 600)

Administration expenditure: Benefit management services

11

(191 397)

(190 495)

Administration expenditure

12

(20 563 251)

(20 329 112)

Post-employment healthcare benefits

7

(994 700)

(994 618)

Net impairment reversals / (write-offs) on insurance receivables

13

68 676

(79 759)

(51 594 050)

(60 707 584)

72 666 459

44 232 323

Net healthcare results
Other income
Investment income

14

50 487 479

25 891 839

Sundry income

15

22 178 980

18 340 484

(3 526 531)

(3 757 600)

(3 500 200)

(3 728 236)

(26 331)

(29 364)

17 545 878

(20 232 861)

3 501 261

1 355 265

Other expenditure
Asset management and monitoring costs

16

Foreign currency translation differences
Net surplus / (deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Post-employment healthcare benefits

7

1 615 214

871 614

Fair value though other comprehensive income adjustments

14

1 886 047

483 651

21 047 139

(18 877 596)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes

Accumulated
Funds
R

2019

534 589 976

Balance at beginning of the year

17 545 878

Net surplus for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Balance at end of the year

Other
Comprehensive
Income
R

Members’
Funds
R

2 097 305
-

536 687 281
17 545 878

1 615 214

1 886 047

3 501 261

553 751 068

3 983 352

557 734 420

2018
Balance at beginning of the year
Change in accounting policy

555 564 877
26

-

(1 613 654)

1 613 654

Restated at beginning of the year

553 951 223

1 613 654

Net deficit for the year

(20 232 861)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Balance at end of the year
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-

555 564 877
555 564 877
(20 232 861)

871 614

483 651

1 355 265

534 589 976

2 097 305

536 687 281

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes

2019

2018

R

R

(29 190 854)

(42 031 847)

(4 000 171)

(5 076 386)

1 329 069

4 127 383

(1 414 243)

4 807 038

(33 276 199)

(38 173 812)

1 177 523

859 945

(32 098 676)

(37 313 867)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows from operations before working capital changes

17

Working capital changes
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease) / Increase in outstanding claims provision

Interest received

14

Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Disinvestments

4

145 200 000

166 601 043

Investments

4

(128 000 000)

(152 083 643)

17 200 000

32 000 000

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Disinvestments

4

Investments

4

-

(12 533)

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
(204 385)

(51 297)

Net cash available from investing activities

34 195 615

46 453 570

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

2 096 939

9 139 703

23 214 181

14 074 478

25 311 120

23 214 181

Purchase of assets

2

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

6
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
1.1

Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as defined by IAS 1 and the interpretations issued by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee, with guidance from the Medical Schemes Accounting Guide issued by the
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA), in the manner required by the Medical
Schemes Act of South Africa (the Act), as amended, and under the historical cost convention, except
for:
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or other comprehensive income; and
trade and other receivables which is reflected at fair value.
The preparation of annual financial statements in conformance with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Society’s accounting policies. Those areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the annual financial
statements are disclosed in notes 7, 9 and 15.

1.2

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards effective and relevant in the
current period
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards became effective for
accounting periods ending on or after 1 January 2019 and are relevant to the Society’s operations:
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: A narrow-scope amendment allowing companies to measure
particular pre-payable financial assets with negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income if a specified condition is met. (Effective 1 January 2019)
IFRS 16 – Leases: A new standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. The standard also contains expanded disclosure requirements for
lessees, substantially carries forward the lessors’ accounting requirements in IAS 17 - Leases and
requires enhanced disclosure to be provided by lessors. The standard supersedes the following:
IAS 17 - Leases;
IFRIC 4 - Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease;
SIC-15 - Operating Leases – Incentives; and
SIC-27 - Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. (Effective
1 January 2019)
IAS 19 – Employee Benefits: The amendments require an entity to use the updated assumptions from
a re-measurement net defined benefit liability or asset resulting from a plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period
after the change to the plan. (Effective 1 January 2019)
None of the amendments listed above had an impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the current and future periods.

1.3

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards effective but not relevant in
the current period
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards became effective for
accounting periods ending on or after 1 January 2019 and are not relevant to the Society’s operations:
IFRS 3 – Business Combinations: Amendment to clarify that an entity is required to re-measure
previously held interests in a business that is a joint operation, if it obtains control of that business.
(Effective 1 January 2019)
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.3

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards effective but not relevant in
the current period (continued)
IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements: Amendment to clarify that an entity is not required to re-measure
previously held interests in a business that is a joint operation, if it obtains joint control of that business.
(Effective 1 January 2019)
IAS 12 – Income Taxes: Amendment to clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends should
be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax arises. (Effective 1 January 2019)
IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs: Amendments to clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, it becomes part of the general borrowings
an entity when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings. (Effective 1 January 2019)
IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Amendment to clarify that an entity should
apply IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form
part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture and to which the equity method is not
applied. (Effective 1 January 2019)
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments: The interpretation specifies how an entity should
reflect the effects of uncertainties in accounting for income taxes. (Effective 1 January 2019)

1.4

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards not yet effective but relevant
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are relevant to the
Society’s operations but are only mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020:
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments Disclosure (Interest rate benchmark reform): The amendments to IFRS
9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 amended requirements for hedge accounting to support the provision of useful
financial information during the period of uncertainty caused by the phasing out of interest-rate
benchmarks, such as interbank offered rates (IBORs) on hedge accounting. The amendment modifies
specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential effects caused by the
uncertainties and requires additional information to be provided to investors about their hedging
relationships directly affected by the these uncertainties. (Effective 1 January 2020)
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (Interest rate benchmark reform): The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39
and IFRS 7 amended requirements for hedge accounting to support the provision of useful financial
information during the period of uncertainty caused by the phasing out of interest-rate benchmarks,
such as interbank offered rates (IBORs) on hedge accounting. The amendment modifies specific
hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential effects caused by the uncertainties and
requires additional information to be provided to investors about their hedging relationships directly
affected by the these uncertainties. (Effective 1 January 2020)
IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts: A new standard that replaces IFRS 4 – Insurance Contracts and
creates one accounting model for all insurance contracts in all jurisdictions that apply IFRS. It requires
an entity to:
measure insurance contracts using updated estimates and assumptions that reflect the timing of
cash flows and consider any uncertainty relating to insurance contracts;
reflect the time value of money in estimated payments required to settle incurred claims in the
financial statements;
measure insurance contracts based only on the obligations created by the contracts; and
recognise profits as an insurance service is delivered, rather than on receipt of premiums.
(Effective 1 January 2021)
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendments clarify and align the definition of
material and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the application of that concept whenever
it is used in IFRS Standards. (Effective 1 January 2020)
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.4

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards not yet effective but relevant
(continued)
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: Narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 to clarify how to
classify debt and other liabilities as current or non-current. (Effective 1 January 2022)
IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: The amendments clarify
and align the definition of material and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the application
of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards. (Effective 1 January 2020)
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement (Interest Rate Benchmark Reform):
The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 amended requirements for hedge accounting to
support the provision of useful financial information during the period of uncertainty caused by the
phasing out of interest-rate benchmarks, such as interbank offered rates (IBORs) on hedge
accounting. The amendment modifies specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from
potential effects caused by the uncertainties and requires additional information to be provided to
investors about their hedging relationships directly affected by the these uncertainties. (Effective 1
January 2020)
The Trustees are in the process of assessing the impact of these standards, amendments and
interpretations on the Society’s annual financial statements.

1.5

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards not yet effective and not
relevant
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, but they are currently not relevant to the
Society’s operations:
IFRS 3 – Business Combinations: The amendment:
confirms that a business must include inputs and a process, clarifies that the process must be
substantive, and the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to creating outputs;
narrows the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs on goods and services
provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on providing
dividends or other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs; and
adds a test that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather
than a business, if the value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single
asset or group of similar assets. (Effective 1 January 2020)
IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements: A narrow scope amendment addressing an
acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 (2011) –
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. (Effective date has been deferred until further
notice)
IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: A narrow scope amendment addressing an
acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial
Statements and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. (Effective date has been deferred until further notice)

1.6

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reflected at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairments. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
Depreciation is charged on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets after
taking into consideration the assets’ residual value. The estimated useful lives are:
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings

2 – 5 years
5 – 10 years
10 – 15 years

The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed annually. Subsequent costs are included
in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Society and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably.
All other maintenance and repair costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
during the financial period in which they are incurred. Directly attributable costs associated with the
acquisition and installation are capitalised. Such assets are amortised using the straight-line method.
Gains (sale price exceeds the book value) and losses (the book value exceeds the sale price) on the
disposal of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Carrying amounts of all assets are reduced to their recoverable amount, where this is lower than the
carrying amount. In determining the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment the expected
future cash flows attributable to such assets are considered.
1.7

Intangible assets
Computer software is reflected at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and impairments.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Amortisation is charged on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets after
taking into consideration the assets’ residual value. The estimated useful lives of intangible assets
are two to five years. The useful lives and residual values of assets are assessed annually.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Society and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other maintenance and repair costs
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they
are incurred. Directly attributable costs associated with the acquisition, development and installation
of software are capitalised. Such assets are amortised using the straight-line method.
Gains (sale price exceeds the book value) and losses (the book value exceeds the sale price) on the
disposal of assets are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Carrying amounts of all items of intangible assets are reduced to their recoverable amount, where this
is lower than the carrying amount. In determining the recoverable amount of intangible assets, the
expected future cash flows attributable to such assets are considered. Costs associated with
developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Society, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond
one year, are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the software product are available; and
the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably
measured.
Costs include the employee costs for software development and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.
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DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.8

Financial assets
The Society classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: those to be
measured at fair value through either other comprehensive income or profit or loss, and those to be
measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the Society’s business model for managing
the financial asset and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
Debt instruments are reclassified when and only when the business model for managing the assets
changes.
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income or profit or loss are
classified as follows:
as current assets if they are expected to be realised within 12 months of the Statement of Financial
Position date;
as non-current assets if they are not expected to be realised within 12 months of the Statement
of Financial Position date; and
as cash and cash equivalents if it is readily convertible, has a short-term maturity of three months
or less from date of acquisition and are consider as a mean to settle liabilities.
(a)

Amortised cost
Debt instruments and other assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other gains / (losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Debt instruments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income. Equity instruments that are held for trading and equity
investments for which the Society has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses
through other comprehensive income. Other assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

(c)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity instruments which are not held for trading, and which the Society has irrevocably elected
at initial recognition to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments and the
Society considers this classification to be more relevant.
Debt instruments and other assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are recognised in this category.

(d)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date. These are classified as
non-current assets. The Society’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables
(note 5) and cash and cash equivalents (note 6) in the Statement of Financial Position.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components, then they are recognised at fair value.
The Society holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.8

Financial assets (continued)
(e)

Recognition, derecognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date the
Society commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the Society has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
At initial recognition, the Society measures a financial asset at its fair value. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income within investment income in the period in which they arise. Financial
assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. Loans and receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets through profit or loss depends on the Society’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value
are either recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within investment income
(profit or loss) or other comprehensive income / (expenditure) in the period in which they arise.
Investments in linked insurance policies are valued at the market value of the underlying assets
for each policy.
The fair value of quoted investments is based on current bid prices of the principal market. If the
market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Society establishes fair
value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis
and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible
on entity-specific inputs.

(f)

Structured entities
A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the
dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity and the relevant activities are directed by
means of contractual arrangements. A structured entity often has some or all of the following
features or attributes:
restricted activities;
a narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment opportunities for
investors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the structured
entity to investors;
insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated
financial support; and
financing in the form of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of credit or other risks (tranches).
The Society has determined that its investments in linked insurance policies are investments in
unconsolidated structured entities. Changes in fair value are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as part of investment income.

(g)

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets that are measured subsequently at amortised cost or at fair value though other
comprehensive income are subject to impairment. In relation to the impairment of financial
assets an expected credit loss model is required. The expected credit loss model requires the
Society to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit
losses are recognised.
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1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.8

Financial assets (continued)
(g)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
The Society recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:
Debt instruments and other assets measured subsequently at amortised cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income; and
Trade and other receivables.
The Society measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
lifetime expected credit losses. If the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a purchased or originated
credit impaired financial asset.
However, if the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, except for a purchased or originated credit impaired financial asset, the loss
allowance for that financial instrument is measured at an amount equal to 12 months’ expected
credit losses.

1.9

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill and intangible assets that have an
indefinite useful life, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash ﬂows (cash-generating units). Prior impairments are reviewed for possible
reversal at each reporting date.

1.10 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment which is
established when there is objective evidence that the Society will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to their original terms.
An impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flow (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the effective interest rate compounded at initial recognition.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced using an allowance account, and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it
is written off against net impairment (write-offs) / reversals on insurance receivables in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Receivables arising from insurance contracts are also classified in this category and are reviewed for
impairment as part of the impairment review of trade and other receivables.
1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and other shortterm highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less from date of acquisition that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to insignificant risk of change in
value.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.11 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Cash equivalents are held for meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.
1.12 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the liability, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
1.13 Provisions, contingent liabilities and assets
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Society has a present legal or constructive obligation because of
past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of
discounting to present value is material, provisions are adjusted to reflect the time value of money.
Outstanding claims
Outstanding claims comprise provisions for the Society’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all
claims incurred but not yet reported at the Statement of Financial Position date.
Claims outstanding are determined as accurately as possible based on several factors, which include
previous experience in claims patterns, claims settlement patterns, changes in the nature and number
of members according to gender and age, trends in claims frequency, changes in the claims
processing cycle, and variations in the nature and average cost incurred per claim.
Estimated co-payments are deducted in calculating the outstanding claims provision. The Society does
not discount its provision for outstanding claims, since the effect of the time value of money is not
considered material.
Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, but disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is remote.
Contingent asset
A contingent asset is not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position but disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
1.14 Insurance contracts
Contracts under which the Society accepts significant insurance risk from another party by agreeing
to compensate the member or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event)
adversely affects the member or other beneficiary are classified as insurance contracts. The contracts
issued compensate the Society’s members for healthcare expenditure incurred in terms of the Rules
of the Society.
1.15 Contribution income
Contributions are accounted for monthly when collection is reasonably certain. Contributions
represent the gross contributions per the registered rules of the Society.
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1.15 Contribution income (continued)
Contributions are earned from the date of attachment of risk, over the indemnity period on a straightline basis.
1.16 Relevant healthcare expenditure
Relevant healthcare expenditure consists of net claims incurred, accredited managed healthcare
services and net income or expense from risk transfer arrangements.
1.17 Claims incurred
Claims incurred comprise the total estimated cost of all claims arising from healthcare events that have
occurred in the year and for which the Society is responsible in terms of the registered rules of the
Society, whether reported or not by the end of the year.
Net claims incurred comprise:
claims submitted and accrued for services rendered during the year, net of discount received,
recoveries from members for co-payments and reimbursements from third parties;
claims for services rendered during the previous year not included in the outstanding claims
provision for that year, net of recoveries from members for co-payments;
claims settled in terms of risk transfer arrangements; and
movement in outstanding claims provision.
Reimbursement from third parties
The Society grants assistance to its members in defraying expenditure in connection with rendering of
any relevant health services. Such expenditure may be in connection with a claim that is also made
against a third-party insurer, for instance the Road Accident Fund. If the member is reimbursed by the
third party, the member is contractually obliged to cede that payment to the Society to the extent that
the member has already been compensated.
The reimbursement from a third party is a possible asset that arises from a claim and the existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Society.
Due to the uncertain outcome of these claims, reimbursements from third parties are recognised on a
cash receipt basis and deducted from claims incurred.
1.18 Risk transfer arrangements
Contracts entered into by the Society in terms of which a third party undertakes to compensate the
Society for losses or claims (through the provision of services to members) and that meet the
classification requirements of insurance contracts are classified as risk transfer arrangements
(reinsurance contracts).
Only contracts that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for as risk transfer
arrangements.
Risk transfer arrangement premiums are recognised as an expense over the indemnity period on a
straight-line basis. If applicable, a portion of risk transfer arrangement premiums is treated as prepayments. Risk transfer arrangement premiums and recoveries are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position on a gross basis.
Claim recoveries relating to a risk transfer arrangement are calculated as a percentage of the actual
value of the costs incurred by the insurer.
Assets relating to risk transfer arrangements include balances due in terms of risk transfer
arrangements for outstanding risk claims provisions and claims reported not yet paid.
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1.18 Risk transfer arrangements (continued)
Amounts recoverable in terms of risk transfer arrangements are estimated in a manner consistent with
the risk claims provisions, claims reported not yet paid, and settled claims associated with the risk
transfer arrangement considering the terms of the contract. The amounts recoverable in terms of such
contracts are recognised in the same year as the related claim. Amounts recoverable in terms of risk
transfer arrangements are assessed for impairment at each reporting date. Such assets are deemed
impaired if there is objective evidence, because of an event that occurred after its initial recognition,
that the Society may not recover all amounts due and that the event has a reliably measurable impact
on the amounts that the Society will receive under the risk transfer arrangement.
1.19 Managed healthcare and benefit management services
This represents the cost paid or payable to third parties or related parties for managing the utilisation,
costs and quality of healthcare services provided. Costs are expensed and recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are incurred as follows:
The costs associated with managed healthcare services provided for by accredited managed care
organisations where there is no or an insignificant transfer of risk are included in accredited
managed healthcare services;
The costs associated with managed healthcare services provided for by non-accredited managed
care organisation are included in administration expenditure: benefit management services; and
The costs associated with managed healthcare services provided for by managed care
organisations where there is a significant transfer of risk are included in net (expense) / income
on risk transfer arrangements.
1.20 Investment income
Investment income is recognised as follows in the Statement of Comprehensive Income:
(a)

Interest
Interest income in respect of financial assets is accounted for using the effective interest rate
method.

(b)

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(c)

Income from policies with insurance companies
Income from investment policies with insurance companies is included in the fair value
adjustment of the financial asset if the income is only realised upon surrender or maturity.

(d)

Adjustment to fair value
Unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss or other comprehensive income are recognised in the period in which it
arises.

(e)

Realised gains and losses
Gains and losses arising from the realising of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
or other comprehensive income are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in
the period in which it arises.

1.21 Administration expenditure
Administration expenditure is costs that are incurred to administer the Society, and which are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the reporting period to which it relates.
These costs are expensed as they are incurred.
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1.21 Administration expenditure
An expense is recognised if it is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item
will flow to or from the Society, and the item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability.
If an expense has not been paid at the end of a reporting period, the liability will be reflected in the
trade and other payables note. If the expense was paid in advance or overpayment occurred, the
applicable amount will be disclosed under the trade and other receivables note.
1.22 Employee benefits
(a)

Pension obligations
The Society provides access to and pays contributions to an independent self-administered
defined contribution pension fund for its current employees on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Society has no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction
in future payments is available. The asset or liability, if any, recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position in respect of retired employees who belonged to the defined benefit pension
fund is the present value of the obligation less the fair value of the plan assets at the Statement
of Financial Position date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an
independent qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit method. The average discount rate
is based on the yield on government bonds at duration 10 years.
No provision is made for the potential liability of current employees that may select an in-fund
life annuity on retirement, since the probability that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation is remote. The administration expenses of the defined pension
benefit are included in the liability and not recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. These expenses are funded from the plan assets.

(b)

Post-employment healthcare benefits
Several employees of the Society are entitled to post-employment healthcare benefits. The
entitlement to these retirement healthcare benefits is based on the employee remaining in
service up to official retirement age or the point of retirement agreed to by the Society.
The expected cost of these benefits is accrued over the estimated average remaining service
lives of the related employees. The Actuary, on an annual basis, carries out valuations of the
obligations, using the projected unit credit method.
The current service and interest costs are recognised as part of post-employment healthcare
benefits in the Statement of Comprehensive income. Actuarial gains or losses are recognised
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as part of other comprehensive
income / (expenditure).

1.23 Asset management and monitoring costs
Expenditure is recognised as the services are rendered for the management and the monitoring of the
Society’s investments. The expenditure includes payments to investment advisors and managers in
terms of their mandates and agreements, as well as expenses associated with the activities of the
Investment Board Committee.
1.24 Employer grants
Receipts from participating employers in addition to normal contributions that are intended to eliminate
the unintended cross-subsidisation of remaining continuation members by non-associated members,
are classified as employer grants. This is due to the associated members no longer being members of
the Society because of the sale of mines by the Employer or Associated Employers. Such grants
received from participating employers are recognised as sundry income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis.
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1.25 Related parties
In considering each possible related-party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship and not merely the legal form.
If there have been transactions between related parties, the Society shall disclose the nature of the
related party relationship as well as the following information for each related party relationship:
the amount of the transactions;
the amount of outstanding balances;
their terms and conditions, including whether they are secured, and the nature of the
consideration to be provided in the settlement;
details of guarantees given or received;
provision for impairments related to the outstanding balances; and
the impairments write-offs or reversals recognised during the year in respect of amounts due from
related parties.
1.26 Liability adequacy test
At the statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the
adequacy of the member insurance contract liabilities.
The liability for insurance contracts is tested for adequacy by discounting current best estimates of all
future contractual cash flows and comparing this amount to the carrying value of the liability net of any
related assets. Where a shortfall is identified, an additional provision is made and charged to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
1.27 Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the primary economic environment in which the
Society operates using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transitions are recognised as part
of foreign currency translation differences in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
1.28 Revenue from contracts with customers
The Society receives an administration fee from a participating employer to manage the membership
and medical expenses of employees on their Anti-Retroviral Treatment plan. The administration fee is
regarded as the consideration to which the Society is entitled to in exchange for the service and is
recognised as sundry income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis.
1.29 Leases
From 1 January 2019 the Society recognises a right-of-use asset and related lease liability in
connection with all operating leases except for those identified as low-value or having a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months from the date of initial application of IFRS 16 as indicated in note
1.2.
A right-of-use asset has not been recognised for the office accommodation lease as the value was
immaterial from of a financial statement disclosure perspective, due to the term of the lease and the
variable components of the lease payments. The Society has opted to recognise the lease payments
as administration expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over
the remaining lease term.
The Society has concluded that its other operating leases are leases of low-value assets and has
opted to apply the optional exemption to not recognised right-of-use assets and to recognise the lease
payments as administration expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line
basis over the remaining lease terms.
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2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2019

Furniture,
fittings
and
equipment
R

Cost

Computer
equipment

R

Total

R

228 703

922 431

1 151 134

198 373

835 726

1 034 099

30 330

86 705

117 035

(149 630)

(841 468)

(991 098)

(136 949)

(797 814)

(934 763)

(12 681)

(43 654)

(56 335)

79 073

80 963

160 036

198 373

835 726

1 034 099

Opening balance

210 209

1 562 797

1 773 006

Write-offs and disposals

(13 435)

(776 769)

(790 204)

1 599

49 698

51 297

(136 949)

(797 814)

(934 763)

(138 216)

(1 552 981)

(1 691 197)

12 063

776 740

788 803

(10 796)

(21 573)

(32 369)

61 424

37 912

99 336

Opening balance
Additions
Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance
Depreciation charges for the year
Net book value
2018
Cost

Additions
Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance
Write-offs and disposals
Depreciation charges for the year
Net book value

Depreciation charges of R56 335 (2018: R32 369) have been included in ‘administration expenditure’ in the
‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’. (note 12)
3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
Opening balance
Additions
Write-offs and disposals
Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance
Write-offs and disposals
Amortisation charges for the year
Net book value

2019

2018

R

R

341 094

253 744

253 744

413 281

87 350
-

(159 537)

(265 149)

(252 297)

(252 297)

(409 926)

-

159 202

(12 852)

(1 573)

75 945

1 447

Intangible assets consist of computer software programmes and licenses. Amortisation charges of R12 852 (2018:
R1 573) has been included in ‘administration expenditure’ in the ‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’. (note 12)
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
Linked insurance policies are classified as ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ and investments held
under segregated mandates are classified as ‘financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income’.
Movements in fair value of financial assets are presented within the section on ‘cash flows from operations before
working capital changes’ in the ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ (note 17), as well as in ‘investment income' in the
‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’ (note 14).
4.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Non-current assets

2019

2018

R

R

432 663 548

414 552 235

356 873 934

202 740 860

75 789 614

211 811 375

432 663 548

414 552 235

87 520 245

104 086 869

20 334 810

45 514 804

Linked insurance policies
Nedgroup Structured Life Taquanta Enhanced Income Fund
Allan Gray Life Domestic Balanced Portfolio
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
4.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Non-current assets
Segregated portfolios
Debt instruments
Listed property instruments

3 023 366

Money market instruments

64 162 069

58 572 065

39 577 779

27 080 759

31 722 173

16 750 699

7 855 606

10 330 060

127 098 024

131 167 628

559 761 572

545 719 863

Current assets

-

Segregated portfolios
Debt instruments
Money market instruments
Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

The Society’s exposure to the various risks associated with the financial instruments are disclosed in note 19.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of financial asset
mentioned above.
These financial assets are neither past due nor impaired, and the credit risk is considered to be low. Credit
risk is considered to be low for listed debt instruments that are investment grade (credit rating of Baa3 or
higher), and for other instruments where the risks of default and the issuer not being able to meet the
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term are low.
The counterparties are registered financial service providers (FSPs), registered with the Financial Services
Conduct Authority (FSCA), and deposit taking institutions.
Based on the credit ratings of the instruments and the issuers no credit losses are expected. As a result, no
loss allowance as at 31 December 2019 was made for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)
The movements in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as
follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

2018

R

R

545 719 863

569 684 651

65 376 030

1 414 324

(51 183 692)

(10 491 564)

Interest, dividends and income distributions received (note 14)

37 003 665

34 592 785

Investment management fees settled (note 17)

(2 754 294)

(2 975 466)

(162 400 000)

(198 601 043)

128 000 000

152 096 176

559 761 572

545 719 863

25 985 060

22 014 419

3 303 188

3 105 397

Amounts owing by healthcare service providers

179 841

185 100

Amounts owing under risk transfer arrangements

270 053

244 336

Employer grant receivable

22 087 000

18 255 000

Contributions outstanding

134 691

200 283

10 287

24 303

(195 288)

(262 722)

25 789 772

21 751 697

387 716

358 186

304 167

273 469

2 420

-

81 129

84 717

26 177 488

22 109 883

Realised gains (note 14)
Unrealised (losses) / gains (note 14)

Disinvestments
Investments
Balance at the end of the year
5.

2019

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Insurance receivables
Recoveries from members and third parties

Sundry accounts receivable
Provision for impairment of insurance receivables
Net insurance receivables
Non-insurance receivables
Prepayments
Staff loans
Accrued interest

Total trade and other receivables

At 31 December 2019 the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values due to
the short-term maturities of these assets. These assets are rendered interest free. The ageing analysis of trade
and other receivables as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
25 967 190

21 807 035

Past due but not impaired

15 010

40 126

Impaired and provided for

195 288

262 722

26 177 488

22 109 883

Fully performing

Total trade and other receivables
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Trade and other receivables that are less than 4 months past due are not considered impaired.
As at 31 December 2019, trade and other receivables of R15 010 (2018: R40 126) were past due but not
impaired. The Society does not hold any collateral over these balances. The Society did not provide for these
as there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the amounts are still considered
recoverable. These relate to several members and independent service providers for whom there is no history
of default.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
2019

2018

R

R

15 010

Up to 4 months

40 126

-

Over 4 months
Total trade receivable past due but not impaired

15 010

40 126

Movements in the provision for impairment of insurance receivables are as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year

262 722

175 631

Amount recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

(67 434)

87 091

Balance at the end of the year

195 288

262 722

The creation and release of provision for impairment of insurance receivables have been included in ‘net
impairment (write-offs) / reversals on insurance receivables’ in the ‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’
(note 13).
In determining the recoverability of insurance receivables, the Society considers any change in the credit
quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration
of credit risk is limited due to the membership base being large and unrelated. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Society
does not hold any collateral as security.
In view of the above and since no lifetime credit losses are expected, the Board of Trustees believes that no
further provision for impairment or loss allowance is required in excess of the allowance for impairment of
insurance receivables. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2019

2018

R

R

Cash at bank and on hand

25 311 120

23 214 181

Total cash and cash equivalents

25 311 120

23 214 181

The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents approximates the fair values due to the short-term
nature of the investments.
The interest earned on cash and cash equivalents is included in ‘net investment income’ in the ‘Statement of
Comprehensive Income’ (note 14).
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7.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS
7.1 Post-employment healthcare benefits
The post-employment healthcare benefits arrangement provides medical aid contribution subsidy
benefits to eligible retired employees and / or certain of their dependants. Eligibility for this subsidy is
dependent upon the same criteria determined and documented in a formal policy by the Employer and
Associated Employers due to historical reasons.
The method of accounting and valuation is similar to those for defined benefit pension schemes.
The actuarial valuation to determine the liability is performed annually. The liability is unfunded.
The underlying methodology used in the valuation remained unchanged from that used in the prior year.
The Society uses the same assumptions as the Employer and Associated Employers in the valuation
of the liability. There were no plan amendments, curtailments or settlements during the year under
review.
The key assumptions used to determine the liability are as follows:
2019

2018

9.85%

9.75%

90%

90%

Assumed rate of contribution increases

8.10%

8.80%

Assumed net discounted rate

1.75%

0.95%

Gross discount rate
Continuation of membership at retirement

Pre-retirement mortality

Males: SA85-90 and Females:
SA85-90 rated down by 3 years

Post-retirement mortality

Males and Females: PA90 rated
down 1 year

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and movements in the postemployment healthcare benefits liability are as follows:
2019

2018

R

R

17 580 244

17 457 240

(620 514)

123 004

Benefits paid

(949 922)

(893 336)

Service cost

275 497

251 438

Interest cost

1 669 125

1 636 516

(1 615 214)

(871 614)

16 959 730

17 580 244

Balance at the beginning of the year
(Income) / Expenses in respect of the current year

Actuarial (gain) /loss
Balance at the end of the year

If the assumed future rate of medical inflation was 1% higher the liability would have been R1 814 691
(10.7%) (2018: R2 039 308 (11.6%)) higher and if it was 1% lower, it would have been R1 543 335
(9.1%) (2018: R1 722 864 (9.8%)) lower.
The five-year summary of the post-employment healthcare benefits liability as at 31 December 2019
is as follows:
2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

R

R

R

R

R

Present value of liability

16 959 730

17 580 244

17 457 240

16 415 063

15 421 351

Actuarial (gain) / loss

(1 615 214)

(871 614)

116 316

(46 225)

(554 353)
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (continued)
7.1 Post-employment healthcare benefits (continued)
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income were as follows:

Post-employment medical benefit payments (note 12)

2019

2018

R

R

966 689

893 782

(620 514)

123 004

Benefits paid

(949 922)

(893 336)

Service cost

275 497

251 438

Interest cost

1 669 125

1 636 516

(1 615 214)

(871 614)

346 175

1 016 786

(Income) / Expenses in respect of the current year

Actuarial (gain) /loss
Total

R994 700 (2018: R994 618) has been included in ‘post-employment healthcare benefits’, R1 615 214
(2018: R871 614) in ‘other comprehensive income’ and R966 689 (2018: R893 782) in ‘administration
expenditure’ in the ‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’.
7.2 Pension benefits
7.2.1 Defined contribution pension plan
All the employees of the Society are members of the De Beers Pension Fund defined contribution
section (the Fund). The Fund is a self-administered fund governed by the Pension Funds Act No
24 of 1956. The most recent actuarial valuation report dated 1 March 2019 indicated that the Fund
was in a sound financial position. The next actuarial valuation will be performed as at 1 March
2022.
The charge in respect of the plan is calculated based on the contributions payable. Contributions
to the value of R1 151 398 (2018: R1 103 596) were made during the year and have been included
in ‘administration expenditure’ in the ‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’ (note 12).
7.2.2 Defined benefit pension plan
Several of the Society’s retired employees are pensioners of the De Beers Pension Fund defined
benefit section (the Fund). The plan is fully funded.
In terms of an agreement reached between the Society during 2018, De Beers Group Services
Proprietary Limited and De Beers Consolidated Mines Proprietary Limited the Society waived its
rights to the utilisation of the actuarial surplus allocated to the employer surplus account, for any
of the purposes allowed for in Section 15E of the Pension Funds Act No. 24 of 1956. In return the
Society will not be required to make additional contributions to fund any shortfall that may arise
in the assets backing the liabilities. As such the assets and liabilities are no longer recognised.
The actuarial valuation to determine the liability is performed annually by the Fund’s actuary,
Keystone Actuarial Solutions. The methodologies used in this valuation remained unchanged
from those used in the prior year. There were no plan amendments, curtailments or settlements
during the year under review. The key assumptions used to determine the actuarial present value
are as follows:
2019

2018

Discount rate and expected return on assets

-

9.75%

Future price inflation and pension increase

-

6.30%
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7.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (continued)
7.2 Pension benefits (continued)
7.2.2 Defined benefit pension plan (continued)
2019

2018

Pre-retirement mortality

-

SA72-77 rated
up by 0.1%

Post-retirement mortality

-

PA90 ultimate
rated down 1
year

The defined benefit pension plan as at 31 December 2019 can be summarised as follows:
2019

2018

R

R

Liabilities

-

-

Assets

-

-

Funded status
Asset restriction

-

-

(Prepayment) / Provision at year-end

-

-

The movements in the plan liabilities for the year are as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year

-

(23 131 000)

Interest cost

-

(2 148 000)

Benefit payments and administration expenses

-

2 197 000

Actuarial gain

-

1 166 000

Transfer to related parties

-

21 916 000

Balance at the end of the year

-

-

The movements in the plan assets for the year are as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year

-

28 089 000

Expected return on assets

-

2 632 000

Benefit payments and administration expenses

-

(2 197 000)

Actuarial loss

-

(1 982 000)

Transfer to related parties

-

(26 542 000)

Balance at the end of the year

-

-

The plan assets are comprised as follows:
2019

2018

Equity and listed property instruments

-

14%

Debt instruments

-

67%

Money market instruments

-

12%

Linked and non-linked insurance policies

-

7%

Total

-

100%
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7.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (continued)
7.3 Risk exposure
Through its post-employment healthcare benefits plan the Society is exposed to several risks, the most
significant of which are detailed below:
Inflation risk:

The liabilities are linked to inflation and higher inflation will result in higher
liabilities.

Life expectancy:

The plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of a member. An
increase in life expectancy will therefore result in an increase in the plan’s
liabilities.

Legislation:

Future changes in legislation may increase the liabilities.

Eligibility criteria:

The risk that eligibility criteria and rules are not strictly or consistently applied.

7.4. Cash flow implications
The Society’s contributions towards the various retirement benefits obligations plans is as follows:
Post-employment
healthcare benefits
plan:

86% of eligible retired employees and / or certain of their dependants’
medical aid contributions. The expected contributions for the year ending
31 December 2020 are R1 019 756.
The discounted weighted average duration of the plan is 10.0 years (2018:
10.0 years).

8.

Defined contribution
pension plan:

14.16% of employees’ pensionable salaries. The expected contributions for
the year ending 31 December 2020 are R1 225 087.

Defined benefit
pension plan:

In terms of an agreement reached between the Society, De Beers Group
Services Proprietary Limited and De Beers Consolidated Mines Proprietary
Limited, the Society will not be required to make additional contributions to
fund any shortfall that may arise in the assets backing the liabilities.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2019

2018

R

R

11 431 583

9 870 753

Contributions received in advance

7 232 983

5 533 598

Reported claims not yet paid

2 547 070

2 809 894

243 882

250 111

1 407 648

1 277 150

4 986 375

5 218 136

687 816

769 479

4 298 559

4 448 657

16 417 958

15 088 889

Insurance liabilities

Amounts due under risk transfer arrangements
Unallocated receipts and refunds to members
Non-insurance liabilities
Leave accrual
Sundry accounts payable
Total trade and other payables

At 31 December 2019 the carrying amounts of trade and other payables, due to the short-term maturities of
these liabilities, are not past due or impaired.
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9.

OUTSTANDING CLAIMS PROVISION
The outstanding claims provision relates to claims incurred not yet reported to the Society as at
31 December 2019. The movement in the outstanding claims provision for the year is as follows:
2019
Not covered by
risk transfer
arrangement
R

Covered by
risk transfer
arrangement

Total

R

R

Balance at the beginning of the year

21 543 960

244 336

21 788 296

Payments in respect of the prior year

(22 526 840)

(244 336)

(22 771 176)

(982 880)

Under provision in respect of the prior year
Adjustment for the current year (note 10)
Balance at the end of the year

-

(982 880)

21 086 880

270 053

21 356 933

20 104 000

270 053

20 374 053

16 700 000

281 258

16 981 258

(17 089 974)

(281 258)

(17 371 232)

2018
Balance at the beginning of the year
Payments in respect of the prior year
Under provision in respect of the prior year

(389 974)

-

(389 974)

Adjustment for the current year (note 10)

21 933 934

244 336

22 178 270

Balance at the end of the year

21 543 960

244 336

21 788 296

Analysis of liability adequacy test
The liability adequacy test was performed, and no additional provision was required. There are some sources
of uncertainty that need to be considered in estimating the liability that the Society will ultimately incur for
claims made under insurance contracts. Initial estimates are made relating to the actual claims reported and
reviewed as the claims process matures. All estimates are revised and adjusted at year-end by management.
The following is an analysis of the outstanding claims provision and estimated recoveries from member copayments as at 31 December 2019:

Estimated gross claims incurred per registered rules
Outstanding claims provision relating to risk transfer arrangement

2019

2018

R

R

22 043 715

22 957 542

270 053

244 336

Estimated recoveries from member co-payments

(1 939 715)

(1 413 582)

Balance at the end of the year

20 374 053

21 788 296

(i)

Process and assumptions applied to the calculation of the outstanding claims provision
The Society requested the Actuary to calculate the provision for outstanding claims as at
31 December 2019 based on the chain ladder method using run-off triangles.
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9. OUTSTANDING CLAIMS PROVISION (continued)
(i)

Process and assumptions applied to the calculation of the outstanding claims provision
(continued)
Claims are estimated using service dates based on the Society’s demographic profile and claims
experience.
The expected healthcare needs of a beneficiary are directly linked to the beneficiary’s characteristics
such as age, gender and chronic prevalence. Where there is insufficient information to calculate a
reliable estimate, prudent assumptions are applied. Results are reconciled with actual monthly claims
paid and adjustments made where necessary.
It is assumed that payments will occur in a similar manner in each service month based on historical
claiming patterns. The proportional increase in the known payments from one month to the next can
then be used to calculate payments for future months.
The Actuary also provides the outstanding claims provision for purposes of constructing the Society’s
monthly management accounts.
The principles and assumptions used in estimating the claims incurred are as follows:
Membership
The actual demographics of the Society were used, incorporating all membership movements for
the period 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. Membership is analysed at beneficiary level by
age, gender, geographical area, dependant type and chronic prevalence.
Calculation of provision
The outstanding claims provision is calculated after considering the results of the run-off triangles.
These automatically incorporates the effect of ageing of the membership on the utilisation of
relevant healthcare services.
Reasonability checks
The reasonability of the provision has been assessed as follows:
 Traditional chain ladder techniques, using developing claiming patterns derived from the actual
claims for 2018 and 2019; and
 An analysis of claims already paid in 2020 for 2019 at the time of signing the annual report.
The outstanding claims provision covered by risk transfer arrangement relates to the fixed-fee capitation
agreement between the Society and ER24 for emergency medical transport and evacuation services.
This provision was calculated by ER24.

(ii)

Changes in assumptions and sensitivity analysis
Management believes that the provision for outstanding claims as reported in the Statement of Financial
Position is adequate. Management however recognises that the process of estimation is based upon
certain variables and assumptions which could differ when actual claims are incurred.
The calculation of the outstanding claims provision not covered by risk transfer arrangement took
account of the claims paid during January 2020 to March 2020 which amounted to R19 142 980 (2019:
R21 582 766).
Should the actual claims settled for 2019 after February 2020 vary by 5% (2018: 5%), the outstanding
claims provision not covered by risk transfer arrangement will vary by R3 871 (2018: R1 117 944), which
represents 3.5% (2018: 5.2%) of the total provision.
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10. RELEVANT HEALTHCARE EXPENDITURE
10.1 Net claims incurred
2019

2018

R

R

320 244 123

318 432 505

2 763 432

2 841 214

323 007 555

321 273 719

Recoveries from third parties

(128 260)

(142 887)

Discount received on claims

(83 867)

(144 252)

322 795 428

320 986 580

21 356 933

22 178 270

344 152 361

343 164 850

1 657 707

1 552 783

90 969

60 225

Pharmaceutical benefit management services

1 471 212

1 437 629

Accredited managed healthcare services

3 219 888

3 050 637

2 963 837

3 056 745

(2 763 432)

(2 841 214)

(2 493 379)

(2 596 878)

(270 053)

(244 336)

200 405

215 531

347 572 654

346 431 018

Claims incurred per registered rules
Claims incurred in respect of risk transfer arrangement
Gross claims incurred

Adjustment for outstanding claims provision (note 9)
Net claims incurred
10.2 Accredited managed healthcare services
Hospital benefit management services
Disease risk management support services - Oncology

10.3 Net expense on risk transfer arrangement
Risk transfer arrangement premiums
Claims incurred in respect of risk transfer arrangement
Claims incurred in respect of risk transfer arrangement
Adjustment for outstanding claims provision (note 9)
Net expense on risk transfer arrangement
Total relevant healthcare expenditure

The total recovery from member co-payments for the year amounted to R22 713 062 (2018: R22 030 949).
The Council for Medical Schemes’ (the Council) Circular 56 of 2016 requires that the costs incurred for
managed healthcare services provided for by accredited managed care organisations where there is no or
insignificant transfer of risk be included in ‘relevant healthcare expenditure’ as ‘accredited managed
healthcare services’.
11. ADMINISTRATION EXPENDITURE: BENEFIT MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Optometry benefit management services

191 397

190 495

Total administration expenditure: benefit management services

191 397

190 495
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12. ADMINISTRATION EXPENDITURE

Actuarial costs
Audit costs

2019

2018

R

R

759 920

851 097

1 179 513

828 848

-

Current year’s audit fees

597 448

651 694

-

Prior years’ fees under provision

100 050

3 844

476 106

168 905

5 909

4 405

Bank charges

307 931

311 061

Building and maintenance

241 034

230 257

Computer expenses

910 951

1 003 063

Depreciation and amortisation (notes 2 and 3)

69 187

33 942

Trustee fidelity and professional indemnity insurance

51 421

49 148

1 371 901

1 311 325

Postage

171 678

185 341

Printing and stationery

109 971

101 525

98 249

116 053

186 485

208 036

13 759 644

13 823 831

1 345 366

1 275 585

20 563 251

20 329 112

10 546 563

10 684 003

1 151 398

1 103 596

Medical benefits

962 831

865 675

Increase in leave accrual and leave days reimbursed

132 163

276 775

Post-employment healthcare benefits (note 7.1)

966 689

893 782

13 759 644

13 823 831

External audit

Internal audit services
Audit and Risk Board Committee expenses

Medical administration system

Telephone
Trustee remuneration and other considerations (note 18)
Employee benefits expenses (note 12.1)
Other expenses
Total administration expenditure
12.1 Employee benefits expenses
Salaries, termination benefits, bonuses and recruitment costs
Retirement benefits

Total employee benefits expenses

13. NET IMPAIRMENT REVERSALS / (WRITE-OFFS) ON INSURANCE RECEIVABLES
Reversal / (Creation) of provision for impairment (note 5)
Unclaimed monies written back
Net impairment reversals / (write-offs) on insurance receivables
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14. INVESTMENT INCOME

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Net realised gains
Net unrealised losses
Interest, dividends and income distributions received
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Net realised gains
Net unrealised gains
Interest, dividends and income distributions received
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest received
Total investment income

2019

2018

R

R

36 690 498

11 344 405

65 031 026

1 378 883

(53 069 739)

(10 975 215)

24 729 211

20 940 737

14 505 505

14 171 140

345 004

35 441

1 886 047

483 651

12 274 454

13 652 048

1 177 523

859 945

1 177 523

859 945

52 373 526

26 375 490

R50 487 479 (2018: R25 891 839) has been included in ‘investment income’ and R1 886 047 (2018:
R483 651) in ‘other comprehensive income’ in the ‘Statement of Comprehensive Income’.
15. SUNDRY INCOME
DART administration fee
Employer grant (note 15.1)

91 980

87 220

22 087 000

18 255 000

-

(1 736)

Proceeds on disposal

-

-

Net book value (note 2)

-

(1 736)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Total sundry income

22 178 980

18 340 484

15.1 Employer grant
Finsch Mine and Kimberley Mines were sold by De Beers Consolidated Mines (DBCM), a participating
employer in September 2011 and January 2016 respectively. This resulted in the termination of the
membership of these employees and the retention of continuation members associated with these
mines.
To offset any negative impact on the remaining members, DBCM has formally agreed to subsidise any
resultant annual cross-subsidy deficit that may arise. The subsidy is calculated annually by the Actuary
in terms of an agreed methodology.
16. ASSET MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING COSTS
Asset management and monitoring cost
Investment management fees (note 4)
Asset consulting fees and costs
Balance carried forward
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16. ASSET MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING COSTS (continued)
2019

2018

R

R

3 263 387

3 459 319

236 813

268 917

50 267

64 475

Trustee remuneration and other considerations (note 18)

186 546

204 442

- Travelling and accommodation

111 506

144 975

75 040

59 467

3 500 200

3 728 236

Balance brought forward
Expenses associated with activities of the Investment Committee
Travelling and accommodation – Non-Trustees

- Attendance fees

Total asset management and monitoring costs

17. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year

21 047 139

(18 877 596)

(Reversal of) / provision for impairment of insurance receivables (note 5)

(67 434)

87 091

(Reversal of) / provision for post-employment healthcare benefits (note 7)

(620 514)

123 004

69 187

33 942

-

1 736

Adjusted for:

Depreciation and amortisation (note 2 and 3)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Interest and dividends received (note 14)
Costs incurred in managing investments (note 4)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or other
comprehensive income
Realised gains (note 14)
Unrealised losses / (gains) (note 14)
Interest received (note 14)
Cash flows from operations before working capital changes

(1 177 523)

(859 945)

2 754 294

2 975 466

(51 196 003)

(25 515 545)

(65 376 030)

(1 414 324)

51 183 692

10 491 564

(37 003 665)

(34 592 785)

(29 190 854)

(42 031 847)

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
18.1 Participating Employers
The following employers participate in the Society in terms of the rules and membership may only
comprise of employees or continuation members associated with these employers:
Artisan Training Institute Proprietary Limited;
De Beers Consolidated Mines Proprietary Limited;
De Beers Benefit Society;
De Beers Group Services Proprietary Limited (Employer);
De Beers Marine Proprietary Limited;
De Beers Marine Namibia Proprietary Limited;
De Beers Namibia Proprietary Limited; D
De Beers Pension Fund
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
18.1 Participating Employers (continued)
De Beers Sightholder Sales South Africa Proprietary Limited
Debswana Diamond Company Proprietary Limited;
DTC Valuations Namibia Proprietary Limited;
Namdeb Diamond Corporation Proprietary Limited;
Petra Diamonds Limited;
any other company, organisation or affiliate that has a specific association or relationship with the
Employer or Associated Employers, approved as such by the Employer.
The Employer (De Beers Group Services Proprietary Limited), which appoints half of the Board of
Trustees, does not participate in the Society’s financial and operating decisions.
Terms and conditions of the related party transactions were as follows:
Contributions:

Members and continuation members’ contributions received from
the participating employers.

Employer grant:

The grant relates to a subsidy which is payable in terms of an
agreement reached with DBCM following the sale of Finsch Mine in
September 2011 and Kimberley Mines in January 2016. In terms of
this agreement any resultant annual cross-subsidy deficits that may
arise are payable by DBCM. The subsidy is calculated annually by
the Actuary in terms of an agreed methodology and is considered
to be a risk transfer arrangement.

Sundry income:

The Society receives an administration fee from a participating
employer to manage the membership and medical expenses of
employees on the De Beers Anti-Retroviral Treatment program.

Administration expenditure:

The Society contracted with certain of the participating employers
to provide IT infrastructure, software maintenance and archive
facilities.
The Society is accommodated in a building owned by a participating
employer. No market related rent is payable, but the Society is
responsible for 50% of all operating and maintenance costs related
to the building.
The Society is included in a global insurance arrangement with the
Anglo American plc, the holding company of the Employer, in
respect of trustee fidelity and professional indemnity insurance, as
well as building contents insurance.

Trade and other payables:

The Society and the De Beers Pension Fund are accommodated in
the same building and share all operating and maintenance costs
related to the building, as well as the administrative environment.
Certain payments for services provided as per the above were
outstanding at year-end. The outstanding balance bears no interest
and is payable within 30 days.

Trade and other receivables:

The employer grant and sundry income mentioned above were
outstanding at year-end. Certain of the payments for services
provided as per the above were paid in advance at year-end. The
outstanding balance bears no interest and is payable within 30
days.

Defined benefit pension plan:

In terms of an agreement reached between the Society, De Beers
Group Services Proprietary Limited and De Beers Consolidated
Mines Proprietary Limited, the Society will not be required to make
additional contributions to fund any shortfall that may arise in the
assets backing the liabilities.
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
18.1 Participating Employers (continued)
The following table provides the transactions which have been entered into with participating employers
during the year:
2019

2018

R

R

Statement of Comprehensive Income:
317 659 276

307 317 418

(373 953)

(312 766)

22 178 980

18 342 220

22 087 000

18 255 000

91 980

87 220

Trade and other receivables

22 119 077

18 296 628

Trade and other payables

(3 100 333)

(3 489 442)

Contribution income
Administration expenditure
Sundry income (note 15)
Employer grant
DART administration fee
Statement of Financial Position:

18.2 Key management personnel and their close family members
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Society. Key management personnel include the Board of Trustees,
the Principal Officer and Society Manager and their immediate family members.
Terms and conditions of the related party transactions were as follows:
Contributions:

Contributions received from the related parties as members
or continuation members of the Society, in their individual
capacities.
All contributions were paid in terms of the rules of the Society,
as applicable to third parties.

Claims incurred:

Amounts claimed by the related parties, in their individual
capacities as members of the Society.
All claims were paid in terms of the rules of the Society, as
applicable to third parties.

Claims (refund) / debt:

This constitutes the related parties’ co-payments for claims or
refunds due to members outstanding at year-end, in their
individual capacities as members of the Society.
All claims (refund) / debt were on the same terms as
applicable to third parties.

Claims incurred not yet reported:

Provision for the cost of settling all claims incurred, but not yet
reported at year-end, net of estimated co-payments from
related parties.

Travel and other expenses:

Expenses incurred for meeting attendance and costs
associated with travelling in respect of the Principal Officer.

Remuneration and retirement
benefits obligation:

Short-term and post-employment employee benefits, as well
as the retirement benefits obligation provision, in respect of
full time key management personnel who are compensated
on a salary basis.
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
18.2 Key management personnel and their close family members (continued)
Trustee expenses:

Trustee expenses incurred for meeting attendance and costs
associated with travelling in respect of Trustees and Board
Committee members who are not employees of the
participating employers.

The following table provides the transactions which have been entered into with key management
personnel during the year:
2019

2018

R

R

(373 031)

(412 478)

575 938

535 448

Trustee net claims incurred

(1 154 706)

(527 563)

Key management remuneration

(1 980 033)

(2 593 370)

Principal Officer remuneration

(1 208 745)

(1 271 005)

(19 270)

(52 771)

83 932

96 876

112 764

79 458

(150 930)

(63 693)

(23 179)

(98 992)

Trustee claims debt / (refund)

9 156

14 765

Key management claims debt

2 378

10 120

Statement of Comprehensive Income:
Trustee remuneration and other considerations (note 12 and 16)
Trustee contributions

Principal Officer travel and other expenses incurred
Key management contributions
Principal Officer contributions
Key management net claims incurred
Principal Officer net claims incurred
Statement of Financial Position:

143

Principal Officer claims debt
Trustee claims incurred not yet reported
Key management claims incurred not yet reported

-

(4 679)

(25 736)

(169)

(87 740)

Principal officer claims incurred not yet reported

(2 955)

Key management retirement benefits obligation

(1 000 998)

(1 513 217)

(168 778)

(227 219)

(15 649)

(7 419)

Key management leave accrual
Principal Officer leave accrual

-

Analysis of trustee remuneration and other considerations:
2019

Training
cost
R

Attendance
fees
R

Travelling
cost

Total

R

R

Z Astrie

-

-

9 277

9 277

C J Blanckenberg

-

-

37 442

37 442

W Endersby

2 955

60 970

75 155

139 080

Balance carried forward

2 955

60 970

121 874

185 799
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18.2 Key management personnel and their close family members (continued)
Training
cost

2019

Attendance
fees

R

R

Travelling
cost
R

Total
R

2 955

60 970

121 874

185 799

A P Erasmus

-

23 450

45 556

69 006

H G Gastrow

-

28 140

4 383

32 523

R W Ketley

-

63 315

8 330

71 645

D Kerspuy

2 954

-

-

2 954

C Coltman

-

-

9 417

9 417

W J B Smerdon

-

-

1 687

1 687

191 247

373 031

Balance brought forward

5 909

175 875

2018
Z Astrie

-

-

9 522

9 522

C J Blanckenberg

-

-

51 728

51 728

W Endersby

-

50 658

70 542

121 200

A P Erasmus

-

26 430

42 563

68 993

H G Gastrow

-

41 848

34 400

76 248

R W Ketley

-

37 509

29 953

67 462

W J B Smerdon

-

17 325

17 325

256 033

412 478

-

-

156 445

An amount of R186 485 (2018: R208 036) has been included in ‘administration expenditure’ (note 12)
and R186 546 (2018: R204 442) in ‘asset management and monitoring costs’ (note 16) in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Society’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign investment currency risk, interest rate
risk, investment market risk, credit and counterparty risk and liquidity risk. These financial risks arise from
open positions in interest rates, currency and equity instruments, all of which is exposed to general and
specific market movements. The Society’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Society’s financial
performance. The Society’s financial assets and liabilities consist of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss or other comprehensive income in the form of linked insurance policies, investments held under
segregated mandates, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in the annual financial statements
approximate their fair values. The Society’s risk exposure can be summarised as follows:
Foreign
investment
currency
risk

Interest rate
risk





Investment
market
risk

Credit and
counterparty
risk

Liquidity
risk

Investments
Debt instruments

60







DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Foreign
investment
currency
risk

Interest rate
risk

Credit and
counterparty
risk



Equity instruments


Listed property instruments
Money market instruments

Investment
market
risk





Cash and cash equivalents

Liquidity
risk

























Trade and other receivables



Trade and other payables

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities per category as at
31 December 2019:

2019

Financial
Financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost
assets at fair
value through
Insurance
profit or loss
Non-insurance
receivables
or other
Cash and cash
receivables
and
comprehensive
equivalents
and
income
liabilities
liabilities

Total carrying
amount

(Look-through)

R

R

R

R

R

Investments
278 041 253

-

-

-

278 041 253

Equity instruments

64 866 973

-

-

-

64 866 973

Listed property instruments

44 606 434

-

-

-

44 606 434

Money market instruments

172 246 912

-

-

-

172 246 912

25 311 120

-

-

25 311 120

25 311 120

-

-

585 072 692

Debt instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

559 761 572

Trade and other receivables

-

-

Trade and other payables

-

-

559 761 572

25 311 120

385 295

25 792 193

26 177 488

(4 986 375)

(31 805 636)

(36 792 011)

(4 601 080)

(6 013 443)

574 458 169

2018
Investments
Debt instruments

223 827 632

-

-

-

223 827 632

Equity instruments

171 002 615

-

-

-

171 002 615

Listed property instruments

27 958 182

-

-

-

27 958 182

Money market instruments

122 931 434

-

-

-

122 931 434

23 214 181

-

-

23 214 181

23 214 181

-

-

568 934 044

Cash and cash equivalents

545 719 863

Trade and other receivables

-

-

Trade and other payables

-

-

545 719 863

23 214 181
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358 186

21 751 697

22 109 883

(5 218 136)

(31 659 049)

(36 877 185)

(4 859 950)

(9 907 352)

554 166 742

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The linked insurance policies included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 4) are
included in the analysis on a look through basis to illustrate the underlying assets to which the Society’s
economic exposure relates to.
(i)

Fair value hierarchy
For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which
reflects the significance of inputs used to make the measurements. The fair value hierarchy is based
on the following levels:
Level 1: Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets. The predominance of market inputs is actively quoted and can be validated
through external sources or reliably interpolated if less observable;
Level 2: Fair value is determined from inputs other than published in an active market and is
observable for the assets either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and
Level 3: Fair value is determined using valuation techniques that incorporate significant inputs
influenced by management’s assumptions that are not supported by observable market
data.
Linked insurance policies usually have an observable unit price used for the previous day’s
transactions. Where the valuation is based on these observable unit prices with no significant
unobservable inputs and there are sufficient transactions to meet the definition of a quoted price in an
active market, it is classified as Level 1. If the scheme or policy is valued without reference to the
published price, it will fall into Level 2 or 3. For the accounting policies regarding the determination of
the fair values of financial assets and liabilities refer to note 1.8 to the annual financial statements.
The following table presents the Society’s financial assets measured at fair value as at
31 December 2019:

(ii)

2019

2018

R

R

Level 1

41 644 597

49 771 981

Level 2

504 681 223

483 454 360

Level 3

13 435 752

12 493 522

559 761 572

545 719 863

Valuation techniques and observable inputs
The valuation techniques and observable inputs for Level 1 and 2 fair value measurements are as
follows:
Fair value
2019
R
Segregated portfolios

Valuation
method

Observable input
(Level 1 and 2)

127 098 024

Debt instruments

52 056 983

BESA prices /
Management’s
assumptions (Level 3)

Johannesburg Stock Exchange
(JSE) debt market publicly
available quoted price.

Money market instruments

72 017 675

Respective banks
and corporate or
other institutions

Recorded at cost, include
amortised interest and any fair
value gain or loss calculated
based on yields provided by
publicly available quoted prices.

Listed property instruments

3 023 366

JSE prices

Publicly available quoted price.

Balance carried forward

127 098 024

62

DE BEERS BENEFIT SOCIETY
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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(ii)

Valuation techniques and observable inputs
Fair value
2019
R
Balance brought forward

127 098 024

Linked Insurance policies

432 663 548

Debt instruments

225 984 270

Valuation
method

Observable input
(Level 1 and 2)

BESA prices

Johannesburg Stock Exchange
(JSE) debt market publicly
available quoted price.

Equity instruments

64 866 973

JSE prices

Publicly available quoted price.

Listed property instruments

41 583 068

JSE prices

Publicly available quoted price.

Money market instruments

100 229 237

Respective banks
and corporate or
other institutions

Recorded at cost, include
amortised interest and any fair
value gain or loss calculated
based on yields provided by
publicly available quoted prices.

559 761 572

The movement in Level 3 financial assets for the year is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Net unrealised gains recognised in other comprehensive income
Balance at the end of the year

2019

2018

R

R

12 493 522

12 109 506

942 230

384 016

13 435 752

12 493 522

19.1 Principles of risk management
The Society is exposed in particular to risks from movements in inflation, interest rates and the equity
market that affects its assets, liabilities and the forecasting of transactions. Financial risk management
aims to limit these market risks through on-going operational and finance activities.
Risk management is co-ordinated by the Society’s management under the auspices of the Audit and
Risk Board Committee on behalf of the Board of Trustees.
The Society’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Society, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to these limits.
The Society’s risk management policies are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the market
conditions and the Society’s activities.
19.2 Credit and counterparty risk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss arising from the inability of a third party to discharge its debt
obligations.
The Society’s credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts receivable in respect of members’ copayments. Active working members’ co-payments are guaranteed by the participating employers.
The amounts presented in the Statement of Financial Position are net of impairment losses on
insurance receivables, estimated by the Society’s management based on prior experience and the
current economic environment.
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
19.2 Credit and counterparty risk (continued)
The Society has an agreement in place with DBCM, a participating employer, to subsidise any annual
cross-subsidy deficit that may arise because of the termination of membership of employees and the
retention of the continuation members associated with Finsch Mine and Kimberley Mines following the
sale of these mines in September 2011 and January 2016 respectively. As this agreement relies on
the continued existence of DBCM a risk exists that this liability might not be met if the company ceases
to generate income in the ordinary course of business. The Society’s management is not aware of any
developments that might impact on the future of DBCM and believes that the agreements would still
be enforceable if the company is amalgamated or consolidated with another entity.
Management has impaired all insurance receivables which are past due and for which any uncertainty
regarding collection exists. No losses are expected in terms of the remainder of the insurance
receivables due to non-performance by these counterparties. The sensitivity analysis in respect of the
credit risk in respect of the net insurance receivables as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
Rate of deterioration
Fair value
R

1%

2%

R

R

10 %

5%
R

R

2019

25 789 772

257 898

515 795

1 289 489

2 578 977

2018

21 751 697

217 517

435 034

1 087 585

2 175 170

To further mitigate this risk, there is a formal policy in place for the treatment of any receivable that
becomes past due. If this fails, long outstanding receivables are handed over to a debt collection
agency for recovery, if feasible.
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are deposit taking institutions with
high long-term credit ratings and registered financial service providers (FSPs). The Society has no
significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over several counterparties and has a
policy of limiting the amount of credit exposure to any one deposit taking institution with a short-term
Moody’s rating of P-3 or higher and a long-term Moody’s rating of Baa3 or higher.
Set out below is the Society’s credit risk exposure, as per the Moody’s long-term credit rating, in
respect of cash and cash equivalents (note 6) and money market instruments held under its
segregated mandates (note 4):
2019
R

2018
Rating

R

Rating

ABSA Bank

12 215 243

Baa3

24 317 192

Baa3

Firstrand Bank

33 229 941

Baa3

25 125 024

Baa3

Investec Bank

2 028 076

Baa3

3 133 996

Baa3

Nedbank

15 610 743

Baa3

15 138 326

Baa3

Standard Bank

34 244 792

Baa3

24 401 768

Baa3

97 328 795

92 116 306

A rating of Baa3 (2018: Baa3) and higher is considered to be investment grade with a relatively low to
moderate credit risk.
19.3 Foreign investment and currency risk
Foreign investment and currency risk are the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Society invested in the following foreign debt
instruments during the year:
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19.3

Foreign investment and currency risk (continued)
2019

2018

R

R

Firstrand Bank

2 211 652

2 770 367

Nedbank

6 079 888

5 318 569

16 230 702

16 860 055

24 522 242

24 948 991

Standard Bank

Although these instruments are classified as foreign investments by the Council for Medical Schemes
(the Council), because they are referenced to foreign debt instruments, the instruments are issued in
Rand and listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) debt market. The Society therefore has
no effective foreign currency exposure.
19.4 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in
interest rates.
The table below summarises the Society’s exposure to interest bearing investments as at
31 December 2019:
25 311 120

23 214 181

450 288 165

346 759 066

Debt instruments

278 041 253

223 827 632

Money market instruments

172 246 912

122 931 434

475 599 285

369 973 247

Cash and cash equivalents (note 6)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or other
comprehensive income

Total exposure to interest bearing investments

The majority of the cash and cash equivalents, debt and money market instruments are invested,
either directly or indirectly, with the five major banks. To reduce the impact of any potential interest
rate changes the Society holds a diversified portfolio of investments, both long- and short-term.
If the interest rates had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables remained constant the
Society’s total comprehensive income for the year would increase or decrease by R4 755 993 (2018:
R3 699 732). This is mainly due to the Society’s exposure to interest rates on investments held in debt
and other money market instruments.
19.5

Investment market risk
Investment market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in the market.
The fair value of investments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Changes in fair value
are recognised in investment income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The linked
insurance policies are invested in pooled funds which are valued at fair value and are also susceptible
to market fluctuations and are included in financial assets at fair through profit or loss in the Statement
of Financial Position.
Investments are managed with the aim of maximising the Society’s returns while limiting risk to
acceptable levels within the framework of the statutory requirements. The Society’s investments are
fully performing. The assets underlying the investments are exposed to the equity and debt
instruments’ active market. Equities, including listed property, and debt instruments are equitably
allocated to all sectors of the market.
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19.5

Investment market risk (continued)
The following is an analysis of the Society’s investments as at 31 December 2019 in listed property,
equity and debt instruments held indirectly through its investments in linked insurance policies, as well
as directly through its segregated mandates:
2019

2018

R

R

Segregated portfolios

55 080 349

62 265 503

Debt instruments

52 056 983

62 265 503

3 023 366

Listed property instruments

-

332 434 311

360 522 926

68 280 061

192 143 888

Debt instruments

15 203 686

34 705 776

Equity instruments

51 651 650

152 983 548

1 424 725

4 454 564

264 154 250

168 379 038

210 780 584

126 856 353

Equity instruments

13 215 323

18 019 067

Listed property instruments

40 158 343

23 503 618

387 514 660

422 788 429

Linked insurance policies
Allan Gray Life Domestic Balance Portfolio

Listed property instruments
Nedgroup Structured Life Taquanta Enhanced Income Fund
Debt instruments

If the market prices of listed property, equity and debt instruments had been 5% higher or lower the
total comprehensive income for the year would have increased or decreased by R19 375 733 (2018:
R21 139 421) as a result of the change in the fair value of ‘financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss or other comprehensive income’.
The Society’s investments in linked insurance policies (“Investee Funds") are subject to the terms and
conditions of the respective Investee Fund’s offering documentation and are susceptible to market
price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of those Investee Funds. The investment
managers make investment decisions after extensive due diligence reviews. The Society has the right
to request redemption of its investment in the Investee Funds at any given time. The exposure of the
Society to investment in Investee Funds as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Investee Funds

Net asset
value

Fair value

Net assets
attributable

R’000

R’000

%

Nedgroup Structured Life Taquanta Enhanced Income Fund

4 017 849

356 874

8.88%

Allan Gray Life Domestic Balance Portfolio

2 729 492

75 790

2.78%

The Society’s maximum exposure to loss from its interest is equal to the total fair value of its investment
in the Investee Funds. Once the Society has disposed of its units in the Investee Funds, it ceases to
be exposed to any risk from those funds.
As at 31 December 2019 there were no capital commitment obligations and no amounts due to the
Investee Funds for unsettled purchases.
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19.6 Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Society's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Society's reputation. The Society manages
liquidity risk by monitoring cash flow forecasts and accordingly ensuring that adequate cash is
available. All the Society’s liabilities are payable within one year, except for the post-employment
healthcare benefits liability. The Society’s financial assets and liabilities grouped into relevant maturity
groupings as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:
Total

Less than
1 month

Between
1 and 3
months

3 to 12
months

Longer than
12 months

R

R

R

R

R

2019

Trade and other payables
Insurance liabilities
Non-insurance liabilities
Outstanding claims

Cash and cash equivalent
Trade and other
receivables
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
or other comprehensive
income
Liquidity (excess) / deficit

2018

Trade and other payables

16 417 958

12 343 611

1 907 837

2 163 655

2 855

11 431 583

9 040 436

689 053

1 702 094

-

4 986 375

3 303 175

1 218 784

461 561

2 855

20 374 053

14 932 770

5 406 244

35 039

-

36 792 011

27 276 381

7 314 081

2 198 694

(25 311 120)

(25 311 120)

(26 177 488)

(24 378 586)

(559 761 572)

(574 458 169)

-

(1 783 892)

2 855

-

-

(15 010)

(39 577 779)

-

2 183 684

(520 183 793)

(22 413 325)

(34 047 590)

(520 180 938)

Total

Less than
1 month

Between
1 and 3
months

3 to 12
months

Longer than
12 months

R

R

R

R

R

15 088 889

10 382 551

2 310 955

2 393 884

1 499

Insurance liabilities

9 870 753

7 264 821

732 089

1 873 843

-

Non-insurance liabilities

5 218 136

3 117 730

1 578 866

520 041

1 499

21 788 296

16 209 215

4 812 192

766 889

-

36 877 185

26 591 766

7 123 147

3 160 773

(23 214 181)

(23 214 181)

(22 109 883)

(20 382 781)

Outstanding claims
provision

Cash and cash equivalent
Trade and other
receivables
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
or other comprehensive
income
Liquidity (excess) / deficit

(545 719 863)

(554 166 742)

-

(17 005 196)
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(1 686 976)
(27 080 759)

(21 644 588)

(40 126)
-

3 120 647

1 499
(518 639 104)

(518 637 605)
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The primary business objective of the Society is to accept medical liability in respect of its members and their
dependants by providing benefits for relevant healthcare services obtained in accordance with the rules of
the Society, in return for contributions. This objective takes account of the specific inherent risks associated
with the demographics of the Society’s membership, high pensioner ratio, chronic disease prevalence
amongst beneficiaries and the medical insurance risk. The medical insurance risk refers to the
unpredictability of diseases, nature of and advancements related to treatments purchased and the cost of
related services, as well as the uncertainty surrounding the timing and severity of claims.
The Board of Trustees has mandated the Benefits Review Board Committee to review and consider the
medical insurance risk within the constraints imposed by the Act and the Society’s medical insurance risk
management policy. The requirements of the Act were considered in compiling the policy and it has been
approved by the Board of Trustees. The policy is reviewed regularly taking cognisance of the requirements
of the Act, legislative changes, industry developments, member feedback and the Society’s current funding
level, reserve management strategy, ability to accept insurance risk and insurance risk exposure. The
Benefits Review Board Committee is also responsible for:
the annual review of the benefit structure and to develop proposals in this regard for consideration by
the Board of Trustees in order to ensure that the Society’s exposure to medical insurance risk remains
within acceptable levels;
evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of current risk transfer arrangements and commercial
reinsurance contracts entered into by the Society; and
recommending to the Board of Trustees whether or not the Society should enter into any additional risk
transfer arrangements or commercial reinsurance contracts or terminate current arrangements.
The Society manages and mitigates its medical insurance risk by:
keeping abreast of and implementing appropriate industry best practices;
having a well-defined benefit structure;
adjusting or implementing of new benefit limits, sub-limits, co-payments, penalties, waiting periods and
exclusions;
making use of pricing guidelines, including but not limited to generic reference pricing models
such as the Mediscor Reference Price (MRP) model, medicine formularies and therapeutic reference
pricing models such as the Mediscor Formulary Reference Price Plus (FRP Plus) model for the
treatment of chronic disease conditions;
pre-authorising hospital admission requests, case managing selected cases and performing clinical
audits;
contracting with managed care organisations to utilise their clinical guidelines, treatment protocols and
medical advisory services;
implementing risk transfer arrangements;
implementing chronic medication and disease management programmes;
having preferred provider networks and Designated Service Provider (DSP) arrangements in place;
tracking and analysing claiming patterns to detect and manage emerging trends in order to develop and
implement strategies to deal with these changes;
making use of healthcare system measurements tools to measure the performance and efficiency levels
of hospitals, service providers and other managed care interventions;
agreeing with the Employer or Associated Employers to compensate or subsidise the Society for the
financial impact of corporate activity giving rise to cross-subsidy deficits, as a result of the termination
of membership of employees and the retention of the continuation members associated with the
operation in question;
recovering relevant healthcare expenditure incurred by members or their dependants from third party
insurers such as the Road Accident Fund (RAF), where a third-party liability exists;
monitoring industry trends and emerging healthcare issues and taking pre-emptive or corrective action
as required; and
increasing contribution levels taking cognisance of estimated claims, industry developments and market
trends, as well as the Society’s reserve management strategy, investment returns earned and other
sources of income.
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In addition, administrative risk management measures are employed to ensure appropriate access to
benefits. These include, but are not limited to benefit pre-authorisation, billing audits and interventions aimed
at combating fraud in general.
The Society, with the assistance of the Actuary, assesses and monitors its medical insurance risk exposure
both for individual types of risks and overall risks on an on-going basis. This assessment includes internal
risk measurement models, stress testing and sensitivity and scenario analyses. The principal risks are that
the actual changes in membership demographics and the frequency and severity of claims ultimately exceed
the projections made at the time of compiling the annual budget. Factors that aggravate the medical
insurance risk include the lack of risk diversification in terms of the type and extent of risk and geographical
location of beneficiaries covered. Insurance events are, by their nature, random and the actual number and
size of events during any one year may vary from those that were estimated with established statistical
techniques based on membership demographics and historical claiming patterns. The principal features of
the types of risk covered or benefits provided can be summarised as follows:
hospital benefits include the hospitalisation costs incurred by beneficiaries while they are in the hospital
to receive pre-authorised or emergency treatment for medical conditions;
specialist benefits covering the costs of visits by beneficiaries to specialists and procedures, in and outof-hospital. This also includes radiology and pathology benefits provided to beneficiaries;
medicine benefits cover the costs of medicines (chronic, acute and over-the-counter) obtained by
beneficiaries;
auxiliary and support service benefits include the costs incurred by beneficiaries for treatment and
services (e.g. optometry, biokinetics, homeopathy, frail care, etc.) provided by the medical industry in
terms of their benefits which cannot be classified in the above categories and are not material enough
to form their own category;
general practitioner benefits cover the cost of visits by beneficiaries to general practitioners and for
procedures, in and out-of-hospital; and
dentistry benefits cover the costs of visits by beneficiaries to dental practitioners and for associated
procedures.
The following tables summarise the concentration of insurance risk with reference to the carrying amount of
the claims incurred by age group and in relation to the type of risk covered or the benefits provided for 2019
and 2018 respectively:
2019
Age
group

Hospitals

Specialists

Medicines

R

R

R

Auxiliary
General
and Support Practitioners
Services
R

R

Dentistry

Total

R

R

< 20

3 745 218

2 892 325

1 968 881

1 187 340

1 707 310

1 523 924

13 024 998

20 – 34

9 090 654

4 747 783

2 197 767

2 248 828

1 092 879

759 881

20 137 792

35 – 49

7 253 837

6 885 192

4 845 314

2 143 572

2 035 318

1 419 171

24 582 404

50 – 64

29 997 394

23 992 749

16 081 589

8 194 308

3 818 423

3 221 012

85 305 475

65 +

89 075 406

56 496 441

28 939 944

16 608 514

6 341 989

3 639 398

201 101 692

Total

139 162 509

95 014 490

54 033 495

30 382 562

14 995 919

10 563 386

344 152 361

< 20

4 241 265

3 099 021

2 201 503

1 432 014

1 829 306

1 521 760

14 324 869

20 - 34

4 639 300

3 484 429

2 182 909

1 743 271

1 093 886

804 638

13 948 433

35 - 49

9 458 200

7 733 543

5 013 917

3 049 275

2 204 845

1 554 705

29 014 485

50 - 64

31 702 882

24 945 063

17 649 905

8 215 459

3 926 272

3 736 232

90 175 813

65 +

87 548 855

53 505 607

29 405 638

15 270 439

6 149 770

3 820 941

195 701 250

Total

137 590 502

92 767 663

56 453 872

29 710 458

15 204 079

11 438 276

343 164 850

2018
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If the claims experience varied by 1% the benefits provided would have been higher or lower by R3 441 524
(2018: R3 431 649).
A preferred provider network agreement remains in place between the Society and Mediclinic for the
rendering of private hospital services. This contract is annual in nature.
The Board of Trustees ultimately decides on whether or not to enter into risk transfer arrangements or
commercial reinsurance contracts. To this end the Society has a fixed-fee capitation agreement in place with
ER24 for emergency medical transport and evacuation services and an agreement with DBCM to subsidise
any annual cross-subsidy deficit that may arise as a result of the termination of membership of employees
and the retention of the continuation members associated with Finsch Mine and Kimberley Mines, following
the sale of the mines in September 2011 and January 2016 respectively. Annual actuarial valuations are
performed in order to calculate the cross-subsidy deficit, if any, in terms of the agreed method. In performing
the actuarial valuation, the Actuary makes use of the same assumptions as allowed for in the annual budget
determination process. The assumptions and sensitivities are disclosed below. The subsidy is not offset
against the ‘relevant healthcare expenditure’ (note 10) but is disclosed as an ‘employer grant’ (note 15) in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If the agreements were not in place the ‘total comprehensive
income for the year’ would have been R22 087 000 (2018: R18 255 000) lower.
Furthermore, medical schemes are required to fund prescribed minimum benefits (PMBs) in full in terms of
Regulation 8 of the Act. This includes the costs related to:
the diagnosis, treatment and care of any emergency medical condition;
a defined set of 270 medical conditions defined in the diagnosis treatment pairs (DTPs); and
26 chronic conditions defined in the Chronic Disease List (CDL).
This poses an additional financial risk to the Society since there are no regulated tariffs for healthcare service
providers. The Society, where appropriate and permissible, makes use of designated service providers
(DSPs), treatment protocols and formularies for specific conditions to manage the risk associated with PMBs.
The following tables summarise the concentration of insurance risk with reference to the carrying amount of
the insurance claims incurred by age group, split between prescribed minimum benefits (PMB) and non-PMB
claims for 2019 and 2018 respectively:
2019
Age
group

In-hospital

Day-to-day

PMB

Non-PMB

PMB

Non-PMB

R

R

R

R

Chronic
(CDL)

Other

Total

R

R

R

< 20

3 105 293

2 458 913

1 001 921

6 071 782

312 391

85 184

13 035 484

20 - 34

9 763 022

3 419 686

1 322 272

4 119 246

1 335 698

93 178

20 053 102

35 - 49

6 873 216

4 036 697

2 549 560

8 871 977

2 105 519

189 963

24 626 932

50 - 64

30 290 845

16 194 682

8 748 109

19 552 092

9 922 824

636 736

85 345 288

65 +

95 723 637

37 147 562

17 263 717

29 359 447

19 838 820

1 758 372

201 091 555

145 756 013

63 257 540

30 885 579

67 974 544

33 515 252

2 763 433

344 152 361

< 20

3 584 026

2 761 122

1 006 842

6 532 654

352 642

87 580

14 324 866

20 - 34

4 309 888

2 486 107

1 002 646

4 760 024

1 293 969

95 801

13 948 435

35 - 49

9 130 991

5 274 786

1 890 430

10 239 721

2 283 249

195 310

29 014 487

50 - 64

31 229 546

16 058 714

9 713 878

21 783 676

10 735 341

654 658

90 175 813

65 +

93 626 697

36 704 456

15 022 960

29 815 126

18 724 145

1 807 865

195 701 249

141 881 148

63 285 185

28 636 756

73 131 201

33 389 346

2 841 214

343 164 850

Total
2018

Total
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20. INSURANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The principal features of the PMB and non-PMB claims are as follows:
in-hospital benefits cover costs incurred by beneficiaries while they are in hospital to receive preauthorised and emergency treatment for medical conditions;
day-to-day benefits cover the costs of out-of-hospital medical attention, such as visits to general
practitioners and dentists;
chronic benefits cover the cost of certain medicines prescribed to beneficiaries for chronic conditions /
diseases and other related costs; and
other benefits are the claims incurred in respect of the risk transfer arrangement.
20.1 Sensitivity analysis of the Society’s financial position
In terms of the Act, the reserve levels of the Society must at least be at 25% of the gross annual
contributions.
The estimated solvency level for 2019 is based on a number of assumptions, including price increases,
utilisation and membership demographics.
The following sections illustrate the sensitivity of the solvency level to these assumptions, as calculated
during the Society’s annual benefit design and pricing review:
(i)

Price increases
The final price increases were not available at the time of determining the pricing for 2020. Any
changes in the price increases in excess or below the expected price increase will impact on the
claims expenditure for 2020 and ultimately the projected solvency ratio.
The table below sets out the impact of the listed scenarios on the solvency ratio:
2020
Solvency
ratio

(i)

2019

Difference

Solvency
ratio

Difference

Average price increase of 5.2% (2019: 5.4%)

156.5%

Average price increase of 2% less than expected

158.1%

1.6%

140.8%

1.7%

Average price increase of 1% less than expected

157.3%

0.8%

139.9%

0.8%

Average price increase of 1% more than expected

155.7%

(0.8)%

138.2%

(0.9%)

Average price increase of 2% more than expected

154.9%

(1.6)%

137.3%

(1.8%)

139.1%

Change in benefit utilisation
This assumption is particularly uncertain relative to the other assumptions used due to it
encapsulating the impact of yet unknown factors (e.g. introduction of new technologies and
drugs).
If the actual increase in benefit utilisation is different to that assumed, the claims expenditure for
2020 will differ.
The table below sets out the impact of the listed scenarios on the solvency ratio:
Average utilisation increase of 2.5% (2019: 3.0%)

156.5%

Average utilisation increase of 2% less than expected

158.1%

1.6%

140.8%

1.7%

Average utilisation increase of 1% less than expected

157.3%

0.8%

139.9%

0.8%

Average utilisation increase of 1% more than expected

155.7%

(0.8)%

138.2%

(0.9%)

Average utilisation increase of 2% more than expected

154.9%

(1.6)%

137.3%

(1.8%)
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20. INSURANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
20.1 Sensitivity analysis of the Society’s financial position (continued)
(ii)

Ageing of membership
In general, the benefit utilisation by beneficiaries increases with age. If the actual increase in
average age is different to that assumed, the expected claims expenditure for 2020 will differ.
The table below sets out the impact of the listed scenarios on the solvency ratio:
2020
Solvency
ratio

2019

Difference

Solvency
ratio

Difference

Average age of 50.1 (2019: 49.1) assumed

156.5%

Average age of members decreases by 2 years

158.9%

2.4%

144.3%

5.2%

Average age of members decreases by 1 years

161.2%

4.7%

147.1%

8.0%

Average age of members increases by 1 years

151.7%

(4.8)%

134.3%

(4.8%)

Average age of members increases by 2 years

154.1%

(2.4)%

136.6%

(2.5%)

139.1%

(iii) Claims experience
Claims experience may vary due to inflation, utilisation and / or average age changes, as
indicated above, but also potentially due to other factors such as severity or random variation.
As the Society’s risk profile for 2020 is uncertain, given all the changes and risks it faces, the
claims experience could be quite different to that expected.
(iv) Claims experience (continued)
The table below sets out the impact of the listed scenarios on the solvency ratio:
Claims experience of R6 276 (2019: R5 791) per
principal member per month

156.5%

Claims experience 8% lower than expected

163.0%

6.5%

146.6%

7.5%

Claims experience 4% lower than expected

159.8%

3.3%

142.8%

3.7%

Claims experience 4% higher than expected

153.3%

(3.2)%

135.3%

(3.8%)

Claims experience 8% higher than expected

150.0%

(6.5)%

131.6%

(7.5%)

139.1%

(v) Membership level changes
The Society’s solvency level is very sensitive to any change in membership levels, due to the fact
that the definition of solvency is the value of the Society’s reserves divided by contribution income.
Therefore any increase in contribution income, as a result of increase in membership, would
reduce the solvency level even though the value of the Society’s reserves remains unchanged.
The table below sets out the impact of the listed scenarios on the solvency ratio:
Total membership of 57 162 (2019: 60 504) principal
members for the year assumed

156.5%

Membership 10% lower than assumed

174.4%

17.9%

152.5%

13.4%

Membership 5% lower than assumed

165.0%

8.5%

145.5%

6.4%

Membership 5% higher than assumed

148.8%

(7.7)%

133.0%

(6.1%)

Membership 10% higher than assumed

141.9%

(14.6)%

127.2%

(11.9%)
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20. INSURANCE RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
20.1 Sensitivity analysis of the Society’s financial position (continued)
(vi) Contributions
The average contribution received per month depends on the average family size of the Society’s
members and actual number of dependants registered.
Changes in the membership levels could also have an effect on the average contribution received
per member per month. If it is lower than assumed, the Society will receive less funding than
anticipated and vice versa. However, it should be borne in mind that the solvency is calculated by
dividing the Society’s reserves by the contribution income and therefore, any decrease in
contribution will increase the solvency ratio.
The table below sets out the impact of the listed scenarios on the solvency ratio:
2020
Solvency
ratio

2019

Difference

Solvency
ratio

Difference

Contribution income of R5 695 (2019: R5 380) per
principal member per month assumed

156.5%

Contribution income 4% lower than assumed

159.7%

3.2%

141.1%

2.0%

Contribution income 2% lower than assumed

158.1%

1.6%

140.1%

1.0%

Contribution income 2% higher than assumed

155.0%

(1.5)%

138.1%

(1.0%)

Contribution income 4% higher than assumed

153.6%

(2.9)%

137.2%

(1.9%)

139.1%

21. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
In order to achieve the Society’s primary business objective of accepting medical liability in respect of its
members and their dependants by providing benefits for relevant healthcare service obtained in return for
contributions, the strategy of the Society is to ensure the financial stability and viability of the Society over
the foreseeable future, whilst supplementing contribution income with investment and other income.
In view of this the Board of Trustees have adopted a strategy in terms of which:
a significant portion of the Society’s assets are invested in investment portfolios that target net real
returns of at least 3% over a rolling 36-month period;
the balance of assets are invested in investment portfolios that aim to preserve the capital that needs to
be held in respect of the statutory minimum accumulated funds, and the contributions (negative gross
healthcare results) and non-healthcare expenditure to be funded from investment income to enable the
Society to meet its regular cash flow demands as they arise; and
risks are minimised, and non-healthcare expenditure (administration costs) are maintained at an
acceptable level.
The Board of Trustees actively manage the Society’s surplus funds to ensure compliance with the Act. The
Act requires a solvency ratio of 25%. The solvency ratio of the Society as at 31 December 2019 was 162.4%
(2018: 144.4%). The Board of Trustees is cognisant of the fact that the Society’s solvency ratio is substantially
higher than the minimum required by the Act, including the Society’s risk-based capital requirement as
determined by the Actuary, based on the Society’s specific risk profile. This is even more relevant in the
current regulatory framework and a rapidly evolving South African healthcare environment.
22. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND AREAS OF KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In the process of applying the Society’s accounting policies, management has made no material judgements,
except for the post-employment healthcare benefits liability (note 7.1), defined benefit pension plan (note
7.2), the outstanding claims provision (note 9) and calculation of the employer grant (note 15), that have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements.
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23. NON-COMPLIANCE
The following instances of non-compliance with the Act were identified during the year:
23.1 Financial soundness of benefit option
In terms of Section 33(2) of the Act, each benefit option shall be self-supporting in terms of membership
and financial performance.
Cause
During the year the Society incurred a net healthcare deficit of R51 594 050 (2018: R60 707 584).
This result is expected and is aligned with the Society’s reserve management strategy of ensuring the
financial stability and viability of the Society over the foreseeable future. The strategy also takes
account of the need for the Society to remain competitive in relation to benefits provided, contribution
levels and administration costs.
Corrective action
The Society is financially sound in terms of Section 35, as confirmed by the current level of
accumulated funds and the Society’s solvency ratio of 162.4% (2018: 144.4%). The financial
soundness and sustainability of the Society is carefully considered and managed by the Board on an
on-going basis, in consultation with the Actuary. It is not the strategy of the Society to make a profit
and its net investment income and the employer grant enables it to target a break-even position and
to ameliorate any net healthcare deficit.
The Board monitors the financial results to ensure that the net healthcare deficit is in line with the
budget and any material variances are analysed and corrective action taken, where necessary.
23.2 Investments in participating employers, other medical schemes, administrators or associated
companies
Section 35(8) of the Act states that a medical scheme shall not invest any of its assets in other medical
schemes, any administrator, any participating employer or any companies associated with the aforementioned.
Cause
The Society through its holdings in the Allan Gray Life Domestic Balanced Portfolio (linked insurance
policy) holds indirect investments in companies associated with other medical schemes, administrators
and participating employers. The investment managers have full discretion over the investment
decisions relating to these pooled investments.
Corrective action
The Society applied for an exemption from this section of the Act on 3 April 2019. Exemption was
granted until 30 November 2022 by the Council, subject to certain conditions.
23.3 Payment of claims within 30 days
In terms of Section 59(2) of the Act, a medical scheme is required to pay a valid claim submitted to the
scheme within 30 days after the day on which the claim was received.
Cause
The Society endeavours to pay all claims within 30 days of receipt, but the processing of some claims
are occasionally delayed due to unforeseen circumstances. Delays can, for example, occur when
providers fail to supply the Society with their banking details or when claims are referred for clinical
auditing or other investigations.
Corrective action
Claims that are not paid within 30 days are actively monitored to ensure effective on-going
management of this issue.
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23. NON-COMPLIANCE (continued)
23.4 Contribution income not received within three days of becoming due
In terms of Section 26(7) of the Act, contribution income must be received within three days of
becoming due in terms of the Rules.
Cause
There were an insignificant number of instances where the Society did not receive contributions from
members within three days of them becoming due. This was mainly as a result of members having
insufficient funds in their bank accounts at the time of collection, members exiting without informing
the Society and reconciling discrepancies between participating employers and the Society. The risk
of default is however small because of the restricted nature of the Society and participating employer
base.
Corrective action
Contributions not received within three days are actively pursued and the suspension policies are
rigorously applied.
23.5 Limitation on assets
In terms of Category 7 of Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act the Society is only allowed to hold a
maximum of 2.5% of its assets in other assets inside the Republic of South Africa. No other assets in
territories outside the Republic may be held.
Cause
In terms of Circular 15 of 2020: Categorisation of assets in terms of Annexure B to the Regulations,
issued by the Council on 28 February 2020, all credit linked notes listed on the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange’s (JSE) debt market as at 31 December 2019 are classified as Category 7(a): Other assets
- Inside the Republic or Category 7(b): Other assets – Territories outside the Republic, based on the
JSE’s classification of these credit linked notes which implies that these instruments have exposure to
embedded derivatives. These credit linked notes were classified either as Category 2(a): Bonds –
Inside the Republic or Category 2(b): Bonds – Territories outside the Republic in prior years.
The Society through its holdings in the Nedgroup Structured Life Taquanta Enhanced Income Fund
(linked insurance policy) holds indirect investments in these credit linked notes. The investment
managers have full discretion over the investment decisions relating to these pooled investments.
Should these credit linked notes be classified in accordance with Circular 15 of 2020 the Society would
exceed the Category 7(a) and 7(b) limits of Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act as at
31 December 2019.
Corrective action
The Society has provided the Council with confirmation by the investment managers that these
instruments do not have exposure to embedded derivatives. These instruments will therefore be
classified either as Category 2(a): Bonds – Inside the Republic or Category 2(b): Bonds – Territories
outside the Republic for Annexure B to Regulation 30 of the Act purposes, as per past practice.
23.6 Board composition
Section 57(2) of the Act states that at least 50% of the members of the Board of Trustees shall be
elected from amongst members.
As at 31 December 2019, the Board of Trustees was made up of three member elected Trustees and
four employer appointed Trustees.
Cause
This was as a result of the passing of Mr H G Gastrow, a member elected trustee, on
2 November 2019.
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23. NON-COMPLIANCE (continued)
23.6 Board composition (continued)
Corrective action
The remaining member elected Trustees have subsequently resolved to fill the vacancy with an eligible
member in terms of Rule 18.7, since there were no eligible candidates available from the last general
election to fill the vacancy.
Mr J Soyizwaphi was appointed as a member elected Trustee effective 19 March 2020 and will serve
the remainder of the current five year term of office that will end at the 131st Annual General Meeting.
24. EVENTS AFTER STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
24.1 Member elected Trustees
Following the vacancy that was created by the passing of Mr H G Gastrow on 2 November 2019 Mr
J Soyizwaphi was appointed as a member elected Trustee effective 19 March 2020 and will serve the
remainder of the current five year term of office that will end at the 131st Annual General Meeting.
24.2 Covid-19 pandemic
Since 31 December 2019 the spread of Covid-19 and the measures taken to contain the spread of the
virus have severely impacted many businesses and economies around the world. The following
impacts on the Society have been considered:
24.2.1 Impact on fair value of investments and returns
Since 31 December 2019 investment markets around the world have experienced significant
volatility. As at 30 April 2020 the Society’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and other comprehensive income have only increased to R559 908 052 (31 December 2019:
R559 761 572), well below the 2020 financial year’s investment return assumption. While
governments have reacted with several interventions designed to stabilise economic
conditions, the future impact on investment markets can, however, not be reliably estimated.
24.2.2 Impact on solvency ratio and claims
The sensitivity analysis of the Society’s solvency ratio, after allowing for the above impact on
investments and the estimated Covid-19 related claims, indicated that the solvency ratio could
decrease between 8.3% (low impact scenario) and 25.9% (high impact scenario).
However, at this stage the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Society cannot be reliably
estimated. Accordingly, the Society’s financial position and results for the year ended
31 December 2019 have not been adjusted to reflect the potential impact, as this is a nonadjusting event after statement of financial position date. Given the Society’s level of reserves
and its solvency ratio of 162.4% as at 31 December 2019, it is anticipated that the Society will
be able to continue as a going concern.
24.4 Other events
No other material events affecting the annual financial statements have occurred after the end of the
accounting period which in the opinion of the Board should be brought to the members’ attention.
25. CONTINGENT ASSET
The Society grants assistance to its members in defraying expenditure incurred in connection with rendering
of any relevant health service.
Such expenditure may be in connection with a claim that is also made to the Road Accident Fund (RAF),
administered in terms of the Road Accident Fund Act No. 56 of 1996. If members are reimbursed by the
RAF, they are contractually obliged to cede those payments to the Society to the extent that they have already
been compensated. The outstanding amount of claims lodged with the RAF in respect of beneficiaries at
year-end amounts to R7 616 827 (2018: R4 644 414).
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26. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The adoption of IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in the accounting policies and adjustments
to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The total impact on the members’ funds as at
1 January 2018 was as follows:
Accumulated
Funds

Other
Comprehensive
Income

R

R

555 564 877

Balance at beginning of the year
Adjustment from adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018
Restated at beginning of the year

Members’
Funds
R

-

(1 613 654)

1 613 654

553 951 223

1 613 654

555 564 877
555 564 877

27. SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM OPERATIONS PER BENEFIT OPTION
The Society offers a single benefit option that has a traditional benefit structure with defined benefits, annual
limits and no personal medical savings account. The principal features of the benefit provided are as follows:
comprehensive in-hospital, chronic and day-to-day cover;
benefits are calculated according to the Society’s Reference Price List (SRPL); and
professional services rendered in an authorised network hospital are reimbursed at Scheme Rate (165%
of SRPL).
The net healthcare result of the Society for the year ended 31 December 2019 was as follows:

Contribution income
Relevant healthcare expenditure
Net claims incurred
Accredited managed healthcare services

2019

2018

R

R

317 659 276

307 317 418

(347 572 654)

(346 431 018)

(344 152 361)

(343 164 850)

(3 219 888)

(3 050 637)

(200 405)

(215 531)

Risk transfer arrangement premiums paid

(2 963 837)

(3 056 745)

Recoveries from risk transfer arrangement

2 763 432

2 841 214

(29 913 378)

(39 113 600)

(191 397)

(190 495)

(20 563 251)

(20 329 112)

(994 700)

(994 618)

68 676

(79 759)

(51 594 050)

(60 707 584)

Net expense / income on risk transfer arrangement

Gross healthcare results
Administration expenditure: Benefit management services
Administration expenditure
Post-employment healthcare benefits
Net impairment write-offs reversals on insurance receivables
Net healthcare results

4 962

Average number of members during the year
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